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Dixons Academies Trust 

Trustees Report for the Vear Ended 31 August 2021 

Structure, governance and management 

The Trustees (who are also directors of the charity for the iJUrposes of the Companies Act} present their annual report, together with the 
financial statemen� and aud:tor's report, of the Dixons Academies Trust for the year ended 31 August 2021. The annuai report serves 
the purposes of both a Tr:Jstees' report and a directors' report under company law. 

The Tr:.st operates academ1es for studer:ts aged 3 to 19 serving a catchment area in the in:-ier-city communities of Bradfora and Leeds. 
It has a pupil capaclty cf 10,109 and had a re!! of 9,544 :n the school census or, 1 Octcher 2021. 

a. Constitution

Dixons Academies Trust a company lr.corporated as prlvate !imited by guarantee and an exempt charity, having Its reg!stered office 
s!tuated ir. Engrand and Wales, has changed its name to Dixons Academies Trust on 6 July 2021. The company was first estab!lshed on 6 

October 1988. The Charl:ab:e Company's Mer.,orancum and Artic:es of Associat;on (dated 28 March 2018) are the primary governing 
documents of the T�ust. 

The Trustees are responsible for the charitab!e activities of the Trust and are the Directors of the Charitable Company for the purposes 
of company law. The Charitable Company operates as Dixons Academies Trust. 

Details of the Trustees who served throughout the year, except as noted, are included in the Refe,e:,ce and Administrative details o:, 
page 3. 

The prfncipal activities and objectives of the Trust are the advancement of education for publlc benefit in the United Kingdom by 
establ!shing, r.iair?taining and deve:oping high performing schools. 

Our schoo!s are nationally recognised for offering a broad curriculum underpinned by our core values and a relentless focus on the 
highest standards of student achievement. 

Our students meet and work together in a harmonious and happy community drawn from all cultures and backgroJr.ds across the region. 
We believe our students have a key role to play in the economic development and social regeneration of our cr.:ies In the next generation 
and beyond. 

b. Members' liability

Each Member of t!':e Charitable Company unde1:akes to contribute to the assets of the Charitable Company i!1 the event of it being 
wou:,d up whi:e they are a Member, or wi�hin one year after they cease to be a Member, such amou'.lt as may be required, not exceeding 
£10 for the debts and liabilities contracted before they ceased to be a Member. 

c. Trustees' Indemnities

There are no qL..alifyir.g third-party indemr.ity provisions in place in respect of Trustees, other than Trustees and Officers' insurance, 
which is in place. 

d. Method of recruitment and appointment or election of Trustees

The Members of Dixons Academies Trust are responsible for the appointment of the Trust Board and the Chairs of the local governing 
bodies who ln turn are responsible for appointments to their respective boards. 

All Trustees/Goverr.ors are appointed based upc:, the contribut!cn they can make to the development and futL:re success of the Trust. 
Except for staff governors, no Trustees/Governo!'"S receive remur.eration for their services other than reasonab[e cut of pocket expenses. 

In order to keep a balance of skills and expertise on each Trust Board, Trustees consider any ski:! gaps and may approach individua!s (t�is 
may !ncl�de parents) explainrng tt:e type of skms set or expertise the Trust is lookir.g fcr. identified indMduals wiii be invited to pu! their 
names forward. in the case of parent governors, if more than o:,e parent expresses an interest, ther. It !'!'lay be necessary to hold an 
election wlt�in the parent body of the academy In question. 

!n order to find the peop!e with the appropriate sk::ls, there may be occasions where agencies, e.g. Academy Ambassadors and o�her
such organisations, are aiJproached to see if they can help the Trust to find potential governors with the required sk:11 sets.

A short application form will be completed and the inc::vidual will be invited to meet key staff and governors. If an appointment is made, 
the successful individual will receive an induction appropriate to their new role. 

The Trust outsources governance services to a third-party company. 
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e. Policies and procedures adopted for the Induction and training of Trustees

New Trustees are inducted into the working of the Trust, including policies and procedures, at arranged meetings with the Chief Executive 
Officer (CEO) with support from the Head of Executive Services. The training and induction provided will depend on the individual 
Trustees' skill set and experience. Where appropriate, induction will include training on educational, charity, legal and financial matters 
(with copies of policies, procedures, minutes, budget plans, management accounts and other appropriate documentation). 

f. Organisational structure

The organisational structure of the Trust is based on the principles that: 

• The Members of the Company define the Object, Purpose and Ethos of the Company.

• The Trustees, who form the Trust Board, have overall responsibility and ultimate decision-making authority for all the work of the
Company, including the establishing and running of schools and, in particular, each academy as a school. This is largely exercised
through strategic planning and the setting of policy. It is managed through the business planning, monitoring of budgets, performance
appraisal, the setting and monitoring of standards and the implementation of quality assurance processes.

• The Trustees have the power to direct change where required to ensure that the Object, Purpose and Ethos of the Company are met.

• The Trustees delegate their responsibilities for the day-to-day operation of each academy and the whole of the funding granted by the
Department of Education for the benefit of that academy directly to a Local Governing Body (LGB) through a Scheme of Delegation
(the Scheme). A single Local Governing Body may manage more than one academy, but the funding granted for each academy must
be applied only to that academy subject to the requirements of the Scheme. The Principal of each academy is an ex officio member
of the LGB.

• The Executive Team, consisting of the CEO and the Executive leaders, control the Trust/academies at an executive level by
implementing the policies laid down by the Trustees and reporting back to them regularly. The Principals across the Trust are
responsible for the authorisation of spending within agreed budgets and the appointment of staff at their academy. Some spending
control is devolved to members of their Senior Leadership Team with financial limits above which a Senior Manager must countersign.

• Individual academy Senior Leadership Teams (SLTs) include the Principal, Vice Principals, Assistant Principals and the
Operations/Business Manager. These managers are responsible for the day-to-day operation of the academy, in particular organising
teaching staff, facilities and students.

To assist the Trustees in their work, the Trust has established the three following sub-committees: 

• Audit and Risk Committee

• Finance Committee

• Remuneration Committee

During the year, the Trust consisted of the following academies: 

Academy 

Dixons City Academy 

Dixons Allerton Academy 

Dixons Trinity Academy 

Dixons Music Primary 

Dixons Marchbank Primary 

Dixons McMillan Academy 

Dixons Manningham Primary 

Dixons Kings Academy 

Dixons Trinity Chapeltown Academy 

Dixons Cottingley Academy 

Dixons Unity Academy 

Dixons Sixth Form 

6 

Date Joined Type 

September 2012 Secondary 

September 2009 All-through Academy 

September 2012 Secondary 

September 2012 Primary 

January 2014 Primary 

September 2014 Secone1ary 

January 2015 Primary 

January 2015 Secondary 

September 2017 All-through Academy 

July 2018 Secondary 

October 2018 Secondary 

September 2019 Post-16 
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g. Pay policy for key management personnel

Principals and other educationa: senior leaders are paid by reference to natronal leadership pay scales. Salary ranges are consistent 
across the Trust and are dependent er. seniority of pos:tior. and size of school. The CEO is on a salary agreed by the Remuneratio:, 
Committee after benchl'!"larking against similar slzed Trusts. The Remuneration Committee meets annually to review all key personnel 
sa;aries. 

Trade union facility time 

Dixons Academies Trust published its trade union facility time below for the period ending 31 Augus: 2021: 

Relevant union officials 

Number of employees who were relevant union officials during the Full-time equivalent employee number 
relevant period 

2 2 

Percentage of time spent on facility time 

Percentage of time Number of employees 

0% 0 

1%-50% 2 

51%-99% 0 

100% 0 

Percentage of pay blll spent on facility time 

Provide the tota! cost of fac' lity time £22,278.70 

Provide the total pay bill £44,538,717 

Provide the percentage of the total pay bill spent on facility time, 0.05% 
calculated as: (total cost of facility time/total pay bill) x 100 

Paid trade union activities 

Time spent on paid trade unio:, activities as a percentage of tota: 100% 
paid facility time hours caiculated as: 

(tota! hours sper.t on paid trace un!on activ:ties by relevant union
officiais dur;ng the relevant period/total patd faciiity time hours) x 
100 

Related parties and other connected charities and organisations 

The Trust has connections with the fot:owing organisations: 

• The Vice Chair ofthe Tn.:st Board, John Bowers MBE, is an educational ccnsulta:-!t for Ambition Institute. Trustee at Minerva Academy
trust, Governor at Clareborough Primary Schoo: ar.d Manor Park

• The Chair of the Finance Ccmm'.ttee, Brent Fitzpatrick MBE, is a Member of Exceed Academies Trust (an exempt charity} and a member
of National Governor Association.

• The Cha:r of Governors for Dixons �archbank / Dixons Manningham Primary and a member of the audit committee, Ruby Bhatti QBE,
is a Non-Executive Director of Carlisle Business Centre, NED -Action for Community Ltd and Arise Yorkshire Ltd.

• Dixor.s' CEO, Si.r Nick Wei!er, is a Trustee of New Schools Network.

• Dixons' Executive Director, Luke Sparkes, is a Trustee of the Confederation of School Trusts (CST).

• The Chair of the Trust Board, Mike Blackburn MBE, is a D!rector at Mike B:ackburn Ltd, a Director at the Growth Company, The Lowry
Cent:·e Trust and Scier.ce Museum Foundation.

• Dixons' COFO, Amanda Bailey is a Governor for the Apprentice Academy.

• Any transactions with the above connected organisations comµly with the requirements set out in the Academies Tr'-'st Handbook.
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Engagement with employees (including disabled persons) 

The Trust continuously seeks to encourage the involvement of its employees in its management through regular staff meetings, weekly 

updates, staff bulletins and CEO weekly online feature. Employees are consulted on issues of concern to them through consultative 
meetings and are kept informed of specific policies directly by management. 

The Trust will employ disabled persons when they appear to be suitable for the role and every effort is made to ensure they are given 

full and fair consideration. There are policies in place (Equality and Diversity policy, Health and Safety policy etc.) so that employees, 
who have been injured or disabled during the course of their employment can, where possible, continue with their employment. 

During the employment, the Trust seeks to work with employees, taking into account their personal circumstances, to ensure appropriate 
training, development and advancement opportunities are available to enable them to reach their full potential. 

Section 172 Statement 

As the Trust Board at Dixons Academies Trust we have a legal responsibility under section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 to act in the 
way we consider, in good faith, would be most likely to promote the company's success for the benefit of its members as a whole, and 
to have regard to the long-term effect of our decisions on the company and its stakeholders. This statement addresses the ways in 
which, as a Trust board, we carry out this responsibility. 

Promoting the Trust's success 

The Trust is strongly committed to serving areas in the North to transform the life chances of children and their communities through 
the highest quality teaching. Dixons academies serve areas with high levels of students eligible for Free School Meals and with Special 

Educational Needs and is continually looking to expand to reach as many children as possible to improve their quality of life. Strategic 
decisions are based on the long-term objective of growth for the Trust, maximizing the number of children whose life chances can be 
improved. 

Our students and parents 

As a Trust, we put our students at the heart of everything we do. That is part of the Trust's culture: the parents of the students in our 

academies are continuously informed of the progress of their children and the safeguarding measures in place to ensure the safety of 
their children. We communicate with parents through letters, telephone or emails to ensure that they are constantly aware of the 
activities of the Trust. We organise parent-teacher meetings and listen to parents' concerns to improve the service we provide. 

Our employees 

The Trust recognise that employees are fundamental and key to delivering the strategic plan of the Trust and is committed to ensuring 

equality of opportunity for all who learn and work at the trust. The Trust respects and values positive differences in race, gender, sexual 
orientation, ability, class and age. The success of the Trust depends on attracting, retaining and motivating its ta lent. We help to engage 
with our employees by setting remuneration at a competitive rate to national, and rewarding performance with bonuses at a senior 
level, and providing a rigorous professional development review process and relevant training. The Trust has introduced an Employee 
Assistance Programme (EAP) for all our staff. The EAP is a confidential counselling and information service, which is available 24/7, to 
assist staff with personal or work-related problems that may affect their health, wellbeing and performance. In addition, as part of the 
talent strategy, the Trust has developed a Shadow Board comprising a selection of early careers teachers from across the Trust to discuss 
the Trusts strategic plans and big moves. The Board aims to leverage the insights of staff in the early stages of their career. 

Our suppliers 

As a Trust, we aim to maintain the highest possible standards of integrity in business relationships with suppliers. We rely on our suppliers 
to deliver learning materials and catering and food supplies to our individual academies on a timely manner, which are key to the service 

we provide. 

We communicate with our suppliers through emails, specifically designed supplier forms and letters to update on any changes on terms 

and conditions. Our suppliers all have a direct channel of contacting the Trust for any changes on their supplier accounts, which are 
actioned promptly to avoid any delay in payment. During the Coronavirus pandemic, the Trust has considered carefully the procurement 
policy notes (PPN02/20 and PPN 04/20) and has made prompt payments to suppliers for the continuity of supply of critical services to 
avoid any cash flow problems with our suppliers. During the financial year, the Trust remained committed to prompt payment terms to 
ensure fair payment practices. 

Our regulatory funding partners 

The Trust Board believes that constant engagement with the ESFA, Local Authorities and other government agencies 1s vital to our 
success. We continue to engage with our donors and sponsors through reports, online meetings and publications on our website. During 

the year, we have complied with all the financial and non-financial requirements of our donors and sponsors and submitted timely 
reports and returns. Our CEO and Executive Directors have ensured that our Trust adheres to all regulatory and legal requirements in 
delivering educational service and activities. 
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Our planet 

The Trust Board is committed to reducing our carbon footpri!'lt. We are installing LED lights O!'I a ro!ling basis across our academies and 
working with an energy cor.su:tant to imp�ove the energy e�ciency of our buildings where possible. This includes improvlr;g the 
!nsu'.at:on of our butldfngs and updati!'lg heating equipment to mere energy efficler.t p!ant. We dispose of waste responsib!y and recycle
rr.aterials where poss;ble.

Public benefit 

-:-he -:-rustees car.firm that they have compHed with the requirer.,ents o� Section 17 of the Charities Act 2011 to have due regard to public 
be!'lefit in determining the activ!t:es undertaken by the Trust and have comp!:ed with the guidance issued by the Charity Commission 
relat1r.g to public benefit. The Trust is keen to emphasise the public benef:� provided by the Trust, which can be seen by the activities, 

and performance outlined w:thln the Trustees' report. 

Strategic Report prepared by the Chief Executive Officer 

About our Trust 

,he Dixons Board and leadership team are s�rongly committed to serving areas;., the North with a history of poor education to transform 
the !!;e chances of chfldren and their communities. Dixons academies serve areas with h!gh levels of pupils eligible for Free School Meals 
and w:th Specra! Educational Needs. 

Dixons was built around the high-performing Dixons City Academy, which was one of the fast C:ty Technology Colleges which were the 
early blueprint for the academy programme. Our Trus'.: has a!so rieve!oped brand new schools throug:, the free school programme and 
turned around fa:!ing schools ir. special measures. 

Over the past f:ve years our Trust has doubled in size, growing to serve around 9,000 students, supported by around 1,000 staff, and 
with a budget of almost £60m. We cater for children aged 3-19 in twelve schools in the i:,ner-clty commur.ities of Bradford and Leeds. 
There are six secondary academies, three primaries, two all-through academies and a sixth form academy. Five of our a:::ademies are 
judged Outstanding; three are now judged Good having beer. sponsored from Special Measures; and a further four academies are 
awaitir.g their first inspection now that Ofs!ed's programme has re-started. 

Over the next five years Dixons again plans to double in size, add:ng hubs along the M62 in Liverpool and Manchester. It is likely that the 
majority of the additio:ial schools will be secondaries. Two schoo:s in Liverpool have aiready been identified to join our Trust at the start 
of the 2021/22 year, we have bid for a free school in Manchester and are tr.e preferred sponsor for another school in that city. 

Why do we exist? 

Our Trust's mission is to challenge educational and social disadvantage :n the North. A!I of our academies serve areas of deprivation and 
communities with higher !evels of Free School Meals than the national average. By the age of 18 we want every student to have the 
choice of university or a high quallty apprenticeship. 

How do we behave? 

We are a values-driven organisation, and our academies are communities with a strong sense of moral purpose. We expect staff and 
students to work hard: to be deterr.iined to get things done. We expect everyone to be good: to behave with integrity and honesty at all 
times. And we expect all of our people to be nice: to show humility, to be fair, and to be a positive team player. 

What do we do? 

We establish high-performing non-faith Academies which maximise attainment, va!ue d1versity, develop character and build cu!tura: 
capital. We are amb:tious and make no excuses based on our students' backgrounds. A![ students are expected to make outstanding 
progress that w1:1 enable the:,, to succeed in further or higher education and in the world of work. We spend more on teaching thar. 
other Trusts and cut cost elsewhere. The extended school week offers students more trme in the classroom, as we!I as more opportunities 
to broaden their horizons and engage in a w!der range of co-curricular experiences. We see diversity as a strength ar.d want ai! students 
to value and tc learn from the diversity around them. 

How will we succeed? 

The first of our strategic anchors Is academic rigour, because we believe that ch:!dren need powerfu! knowledge to understand and 
:nterpret the world: without lt they remain dependent upon those who have It. Powerful knowledge is cognitlvely superior to that needed 
for daily life, transcending and liberating students from their daily experience. Our curriculum is designed to be remembered, and is ied 
by, collaborated on, and delivered by h:gh-qua!ity subject spe::ia!ists. It is owned by students from al! fa:ths and backgrounds and is the 
enti!lement of a!I: we res:st parental opt-outs. 
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How will we succeed (continued)? 

Our second strategic anchor is one of aligned autonomy across our academies. We are aligned because we all share the same mission 
and values; because we want all Dixons students and staff to benefit from our best collective practice; because we all benefit from the 

collective Dixons resources, brand and reputation; because central services become simpler to deliver and more efficient; and because 
growth can be better controlled, supported and managed. We value autonomy because leadership and personal accountability are 
founded on ownership and self-direction; because conformity kills innovation and drives away the best staff; and because standardisation 
fails to respond to changing needs and fails to adapt to a changing environment. Therefore, we seek to find the optimal balance between 
consistency across our academies and self-determination by their leaders. 

Talent is the third of our strategic anchors and also one strand of our strategic plan. There is a pressing business-need to ensure that our 
people-brand is as attractive as our educational brand. Our sector particularly has an issue of recruitment and retention and although 
we fair better than many other Trusts, despite our location, it is vital that we recognise that we must recruit, retain and motivate talent 
in order to continue to challenge educational and social disadvantage. 

Educational performance 

It has been another very successful year for the Dixons Academies Trust despite the challenges of COVID-19, and all of our internal quality 
assurance demonstrates that we have maintained the very high standards we have set in previous years, now during a period of 
significant growth. With around 9,000 students in 2020/21, the Trust has grown in size by over 50% over the three years and will continue 
to grow as our new start-up schools and our undersubscribed new sponsored academies fill to their full capacity. 
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Dixons Sixth Form Academy has launched very successfully and is now heavily oversubscribed. Both Dixons Unity and Dixons Cottingley 
have performed ahead of expectation and budget in terms of student numbers, illustrating the strength of parental and local support for 
these new ventures, even in communities such as those in Leeds where we are new to them. Together with Dixons Trinity Chapeltown, 
all four new academies are headed up by exceptional school leaders: our focus on growing and attracting high-quality academy leadership 
has been, and will continue to be, the very foundation of our success, in turn attracting and retaining high-quality teachers and support 
staff. 

As indicated above, expansion along the M62 to Liverpool and Manchester will continue to drive our growth over the next 3-5 years. 
Growth, and growth at a greater distance than hitherto, will bring both greater complexity and the potential for economies of scale. In 
response, we continue to build the efficiency and efficacy of our central services to free up school leaders to do what they do best: to 
lead learning in their academies and to drive up outcomes for their students. 

Our priorities now are to refocus the whole Trust on developing our most valuable resource which is our talent, and to increase the sense 
of belonging to the Trust as a whole; to build a more robust and resilient central services, including our IT network, across more sites and 

10 
Dbcons Academies Charitable Trust - A Company Limited by Guarantee �r(l

.,, 

Registered Office: Dixons City Academy, Ripley Street, Bradford. West Yorkshire, 805 7RR. Registered in Enaland No, 2303464 · -';t..: · 



Dixons Academies Trust 

Trustees Report for the Year Ended 31 August 2021 

Educational performance (continued) 

wider geographical locations; to make a success of our move to the North West and to be more systematic about building a future 
pfpellne of sponso�hips; and to expand the ro!e of the Dixons Teaching Institute, not only as a Training and Research S::hool but a!so 
now as a Behavio1.:r Hub, while growing the activity around our YouTube channei, Dlxons OpenSource. 

in terms of nationally accredited ed;,icational performance, the�e was aga!� no !'!ionics Test in 2021, nor were there any !<S1 or KS2 SATs 
th•s summer. At GCSE, ail ou� acade:';lies reported strong res;.ilts this year, althcL.gh n:rt as h'gh as 2020. While tr.e r.ationa; patter:, 
sr.owed further grade inflat:on ir. 2021, 1t is not credible o:- ho:iest to contend that overall the 2021 cohort suffered less disn.:ptior. t!lan 
the year befo:-e. 

KS40verall DAA DCA oco DKA DMA DTA DUA 

PB 2021 (est) 0.57 0.86 0.13 0.94 0.98 1.53 -0.27

2020(est) 0.78 1.02 0.37 1.21 1.01 1.36 0.18

2019 0.38 0.59 -0.50 1.07 0.68 1.21 -0.49

A82021 47A 56.5 42.1 55.0 53.3 60.5 34.2

2020 47.6 56.6 43.0 56.0 52.7 61.3 39.6

2019 44.4 53.1 32.2 56.0 56.1 59.4 33.9

5+ Basics 2021 45% 58% 26% 63% 53% 74% 18% 

2020 42% 64% 32% 68% 56% 77% 32%

2019 33% 56% 14% 66% 52% 66% 20%

The Progress 8 scores for 2020 and 2021 are based on the last published formula, and wou!d not be as high had they beer, recalculated 
r:ationally. Neverthe!ess, they de offer so:-ne comparison with 2019. Key to our mission, disadvantaged students a!so did well. 

KS4 Disadv DAA DCA DCO OKA DMA DTA DUA 

PB 2021 (est} 0.38 0.50 -0.22 0.96 1.06 1.47 -0.61 

202D(est) 0.46 0.77 0.22 1.13 0.7 1.17 -0.14

2019 0.12 0.07 -0.76 0.91 0.81 1.21 -0.73

A8 202l 44.1 48.8 36.5 56.3 53.3 58.2 28.2 

2020 42.3 53.4 41.9 53.3 46.9 52.0 35.S

2019 40.1 46.8 28.5 52.0 50.7 55.9 29.1

5+ Basics 2021 43% 39% 20% 65% 50% 65% 12%

2020 42% 64% 32% 64% 56% 62% 23%

2019 25% 45% 12% 53% 54% 60% 4% 

Much the salT'e corn:ner:ts could be made aoout Post 16 results. Students at the Dixons Sixth Form Academy ach:eved a strn:,g fi:-st-ever 
set of results, at +1.02 value added for Academic and +1.03 for Vocational. 83% of students secured a place at their first choice university, 
ar.d 40% to the Russell Group. Ten students secured a p:ace to study r.iedic1ne, three will study dent!st;-y and three more earned a place 
at Oxford. 

At Dixons Allerton Acaderr.y there was a continued strong performance at Post 16, with +0.83 value added for Academic and +0.52 fo� 
Vocational. 90% of students secured a place at their first-choice :.m!versity. One student secured a piace to study medicine and a 
significant number of students w!II study pharmacy or another medicine related course. 

2020/21 was again a very successful year for the Dixons Academies ;rust, despite the challenges of the pandemic. School improver.ien': 
:s strong across the Trust, and we continue to benefit from our wo�k on cur(culum c:iange and eariy anticipation of changes to :,ationa! 
frar.1eworks ar.d standards, especiai!y at seccr.dary 1evel. At Jixons we shall contir.r;e to do all we car. to serve areas of signif:cantsocial 
and educational disadvantage effectively, transforming life char.ces and improving social mobility. 
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Going concern 

After making appropriate enquiries, the Boara of Trustees has a reasonable expectation that the Trust has adequate resources to 
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, it continues to adopt the going concern basis in preparing 
the financial statements. Further details regarding the adoption of the going concern basis can be found in the Statement of Accounting 
Policies (Note 1.5). 

Financial review 

The responsibility for the monitoring and support of open academies lies with the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA), which 
handles the funding for all 4-19 education. 

Most of the Trust's income is obtained from the ESFA and the Local Education Authority in the form of recurrent grants, the use of which 
is restricted as defined by its Memorandum and Articles of Association. The grants received from the ESFA and Local Education Authority 
during the year ended 31 August 2021 and the associated expenditure are shown as restricted funds in the Statement of Financial 
Activities. 

The Trust also receives grants for fixed assets from the Department for Education. In accordance with the Charities Statement of 
Recommended Practice, 'Accounting and Reporting by Charities' (SORP 2015), such grants are shown in the Statement of Financial 
Activities as restricted income in the fixed asset fund. The restricted fixed asset fund balance is reduced by annual depreciation charges 
over the expected useful life of the assets concerned. 

Incoming resources (excluding Restricted Fixed Asset Funding) amounted to £59.S million and were sufficient to cover all outgoings to 
produce an operating in year surplus of £2.378 million (before FRS102 pension costs). This is significantly due to revenue income 
increasing by 12% as a result of the increased pupil numbers and other DfE and ESFA grants while cost only increased by 8% from 2020. 

Whilst the Covid-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on the Trust's operations and its finances, we received additional Covid-19. 
related grants from the DfE/ESFA and the Local Authority totalling £1.2 million to support pupils in their education and cost incurred in 
respect of this funding totalled £808K, with the remaining £475K ring-fenced to be spent in 21/22. The Trust also had the benefit of 
government income streams remaining stable. All the academies within the Trust made surpluses in the year except for one despite 
income from lettings, catering and other self-generating income lower than expected. This is significantly due to savings in staffing costs 
and capitation including exam fees because of the cancellation of GCSE and A Level exams and additional grants. 

During the year, the Trust received £310K Trust Capacity fund to support the growth and development of the trust that was not fully 
expended at the year end. As the Trust is growing in size, we received £503K pre-opening grant and Emergency support funding for the 
two academies joining the Trust, Dixons Fazakerley High School from 1'1 September 2021 and Dixons Broadgreen from l't December
2021 and a new school in Manchester in 2022 and cost incurred in respect of this funding totalled £369K, with the remaining £134K to 
be spent in 21/22. These have contributed to the improved surplus position. 

The restricted general fund as reported in note 19 excluding pension liability is £5.298 million and the unrestricted fund balance is £0.895 
million as at 31 August 2021 giving an actual reserve balance of £6.193 million. 

The Trust received laptops and other devices from the DfE/ESFA to support disadvantaged children to access remote learning. A total of 
1,065 devices measured at fair value were recognised in our fixed asset register and depreciated over two years. 

The net book value of tangible and intangible fixed assets at 31 August 2021 was £111 million (2020 £112.7 million). Movements in 
tangible fixed assets are shown in note 14 to the accounts. The restricted fixed asset fund is then reduced by annual depreciation charges 
over the expected useful life of the assets concerned. The assets were used exclusively for providing education and associated support 
services to academy students. 

The deficit in LGPS pension funds is recognised on the balance sheet in accordance with the provisions of FRS102. The total deficit in the 
scheme as at 31 August 2021 was £24.225m (2020: £22.114m). Movements in the pension fund are reported in note 29 of the Financial 

Statements. The pension liability is underwritten by the Government if settlement was ever required. During the year a total of 31 
catering staff was transferred from Bradford Council to our Trust as we moved the catering in-house. Out of those 31 staff, 23 are in the 
pension and the valuation as at 31 August 2021 includes the inherited pension liabilities. 

The balance sheet discloses cash and bank balances of £8.484 million (2020 £6.668 million). The increase in cash balance is because of 
the additional grants received that were not fully expended in the year ended 31 August 2021 and surpluses made by the academies. 

Reserves and Investment policy 

The Trustees review the reserve levels of the Trust annually. This review encompasses the nature of income and expenditure streams, 
the need to match income with commitments and the nature of reserves. The Trustees have determined that the appropriate level of 
reserves, excluding restricted fixed asset funding, should be equivalent to at least 5% of total turnover. The reason for this is to provide 
sufficient working capital to cover delays between spending and receipt of grants and to provide a cushion to deal with unexpected 
emergencies such as urgent maintenance. The Trustees have taken the decision to centralise all reserves in respect of the Trust. 
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Dixons Academies Trust 

Trustees Report for the Year Ended 31 August 2021 

Reserves and Investment policy (continued) 

As at 31 August 2.021, tne total reserves ot the Trust were £5.l93m (2020: £3.815m} and the restricted genera1s funds was £5.298m 
(2020: £3.628m). The fund ratio as a% of total Income stood at 10.4% as at 3! A;.igL..st 221 slightly higher than the maximum limit of 10% 
as per reserve pol!cy but this inciudes the r;ngfenced income to be spent in 21/22 thus resulting in going above the limit. 

The Trust's level of free reserves (total fa:1cis less the amount held in fixed assets ar.d general restricted fonds), as at 31 At.:gL:st 2021, 
were £0.895 mi!iion (202C £0.187 milifon). The o;::erating ln year surp:us fer the Tru� was at £2.378m (2020: £200K) equat!ng to 4% of 
total income. 

The Trustee's investment ;:iowers are governed by the Memorandum and A1:icles of Association and allow the charity's funds to be 
invested in a wide range of investmer.t vehicles without restriction. The Trustees have approved the ;nvestment of surplus cash Into 
Flagstone, a bank deposi! platform across a number of banks and forva�ing terms non greater than twelve months. This wlll be managed 
through closely monitored cashflow forecasting and working capita! analysis. 

De�ails cf the funds he:d by the •rust are set ou: i:, notes 1.9 and 20 of the attached financial statements. 

Principle risks and uncertainties 

The Trustees have assessed the major risks to which the Trust is exposed, in particular to those relating to teaching, provision offacilities 
and other operational areas of the Trus�, and !ts finances. The Trustees have adopted policies and procedures to mitigate these risks for 
the Executive team to implement and report to the Audit and Risk committee for any non-compliance. The key risks faE into four 
categories: 

Strategic 

,r.e Trust plans to double in size over the next five years wh!ch could impact on leadership ana operations capacity. To mit!gate this risk 
a new COFO have started in post in Aug;.ist 2021. and externai consultant support is being sought to in crease capacity in operatio:is. There 
is the risk that the growth doesn't materialise and the Trust loses the talent it has grown. To mitigate this a wide variety of talent is 
i:wo!ved In the growth project. 

People 

The Trust's success is very m;.ich dependent on recruiting, developing and retaini:igthe very best people :n every position in its academies 
and central services. One of the specific risks is the failL,re to recn./tthe agreed schoo! staffing structure in numbers or capacity, especially 
in core subjects, Directors and/or Members to the agreed board structure, and the IT team and infrastructu�e. These rlsks could have a 
significant impact on teach:ng quality, governance and risk of failure to comply with EFA and DfE required standards. The Trust has 
implemented a people strategy to address the identified risks with a varied programme of first-class regula� training and wide range of 
opportunities for greater career development. !n addition, the Trust also conducts an independent review of lT infrastructure and 
ensures that the right calibre of IT staff is recruited. 

Safeguarding 

The safety of students and staff is of paramou'.lt importance to the Trust. The risks of failure to protect and or safeguard the students 
and staff co;,ild have a detrime:-ita! impact on the reputation of the Trust. The�efore, the Trust places the highest im;:iortar.ce o:, the 
safety and welibeing of students and staff w!thln !ts academies and central team. The Trust has In place robust safeg;.iarding and chlld 
protection pollc!es and procedures to support academies In ensuring tr.at students are safe and fee! suppo:-ted, and everyone working 
:n the Trust is trained and know when and how to raise any concerns that they rr.ay have about safeguarding. !mpiernentatio:, and 
effe:tiveness of these po:icies, wh:ch conform to DfE guidance, are mon:tored regular[y. The Trust has in each of its academies a 
Designated Safeguarding Lead (DSL) who ensures consisten� best practice in safeguarding and child protection. 

Finance and operations 

The ed;.ication sector faces uncertainty over the level of future funding. Changes In the bas!s of funding for academies reduces funding 
or creates financ'al cha!ienges. Cor.sequently, sc;:..ieeze in academy budgets results in staffing cuts ar.d other comprom!ses to educational 
quallty thus leading to foss of qua:tty education. The Trust has relatively high cash reserves that could be drawn upon to mitigate the 
risk :n t!'!e short terr.,. !n the :ong term, the Trust has in place strong financial ;:ilanning and a budget maximisation strategy to e�sure 
that edLlcatianal needs are met. There 1s also a risk of fal! in ro!l in some of the Trust's catchment areas due to fall in b:rth rate and other 
surrounding schoo!s. Th,s couid lead to ir.sufficient fu:,ding and hamper school incprovement. The Trust has improved local reputatfon 
ar.d student �ecru!tment in line with other locai schoo!s that cou!d attract stude:its. 

Education 

There is a risk of exa:n results fa!lir.g below expectatio!'l within an academy or mo� ger.erally a failure to secure good or outstanding 
from Ofsted. This could cause the loss of stakeho:der confidence in the quality of education provided. The Trust has in place experienced 
and quatified SI...T, middle rr.ar.agement and support staff drivir:g h1gh standards ir. all its academies and :ontinuous imp�ovement and 
new systems being embedded in its programme. 
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Coronavirus (COVID-19) 

COVID-19 continued to have a significant impact on both staff and pupils during the 2020/21 academic year. During the Autumn term 
student's education was disrupted when their "bubbles" had to isolate at home and then during the Spring Term all lessons were taught 
remotely during the period of lockdown. The Trust have built on the knowledge gained from the period of remote learning in the previous 
year and were able to support pupils home learning, but as last year, families with limited IT facilities and more than one child continued 
to find remote learning challenging. The Trust have benefited from the provision of a number of laptops donated by the Department for 
Education and have used them to support the learning of the most disadvantaged pupils. 

With mental health being an issue during lockdown for both pupils and students, the Trust has addressed this through closely monitored 
staff and pupil absence reporting, staff questionnaires and training videos and the Designated Safeguarding Leads working with the 
Executive team and following the additional advice on child protection including phone calls to pupils' homes, visits if there has been no 
contact and sharing advice on E safety with students. 

When the schools were open, the vaccine rollout and the mass testing undertaken in the schools has minimised as far as possible, the 
impact on the day to day running of the schools. Additionally Cleaning and Site staff have worked hard to ensure all sites could function 
safely and as a result there have been no site closures during the year. The COVID-19 risk register which was developed during the 
2019/20 academic year continued to be regularly monitored by senior staff, the Executive team and the Trustees, along with site risk 
assessments being completed for all sites following changes in the Government guidance. 

Student safety and staff wellbeing resulting from COVID-19 have been identified as a risk to the Trust which will continue into 2021/22, 
however systems have been put in place to mitigate those risks. 

Fund raising 

The Trust does not engage in raising funds directly from the general public and does not use a professional fundraiser or consider 
fundraising activity to be significant. The Trust will continue to monitor its sources of income and, should it start to generate significant 
funds from fundraising activities, will inform the fundraising regulator and take all necessary measures to ensure it complies with 
guidance issued. 

Streamlined energy and carbon reporting 

UK greenhouse gas emissions and energy use data for the period 1 September 2020 to 31 2020/21 2019/20 
August 2021 Restated 

Energy consumption used to calculate emissions (kWh) 13,974,404 9,333,224 

Energy consumptions break down (kWh) (optional) 

• Gas

• Electricity

• Transport fuel

Scope 1 emissions in metric tonnes CO2e 

Gas consumption 1,724.32 1,006.22 

Owned transport - mini-buses 1.74 7.26 

Total scope 1 1,726.06 1,013.48 

Scope 2 emissions in metric tonnes COZe 

Purchased electricity 961.28 888.59 

Scope 3 emissions in metric tonnes CO2e 

Business travel in employee-owned vehicles 6.25 5.03 

Total gross emissions in metric tonnes C02e 2,693.59 1,907.10 

Intensity ratio Tonnes C02e per pupil 0.28 0.23 
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Streamlined energy and carbon reporting (continued) 

Qualification and reporting methodology 

We have followed the 2019 Hlv: Government Envlro!'lmental Reporting Guldellnes. We have also used GHG Reportlng Protocol -
Corporate Standard and have used the 2021 UK Government's Conversion Factors for Company Reporting. 

Intensity measurement 

T�e chosen intensity measurement ratio is total gross emissions in metr!c tonnes CO2e per student, the recommended ratio for the 
sector. 

Measurement taken to improve energy efficiency 

We have installed energy efficient llghts and smart metering and :nonitoring systems across many of our sites and Increased video 
conferencing technology through Teams for staff and LGB meetings In order tc reduce the need for travel between sites. We have put 
plans in place to invest in energy efficient technology to reduce carbon emiss;ons. 

Plans for the future 

As a soonsor of academies, the Trust has ambitions to support even more young people by bringing other schools into the Trust's family 
of schools and by establishing new academies. 

The Trust alms to achieve the highest educational outcomes for a:I its students as well as providing professional development 
opportunit:es for fts staff so that a!! academies can continue to grow and become self-supporting. 

The Trust will continue to build upon the educational success and financial stabiiity of its academies by: 

• ensuring a!, schoois are assessed as outstanding by taking action on those issues ra:sed by Ofsted <iuringtheirvarious inspections

• improving teaching and, therefore, learning and achievement through targeted internal and externa I training

• continuing to review and evaluate the effectiveness of governance throughout the Trust and Implement a programme of support for
improvement as appropriate

• further developing its central procurement strategies by utilising specific external advice and support

• further refining its Scheme of De,egation so as to reduce exposure to risk and to achieve best value

• expansion of its Teaching Institute programme

• continue the planned Investment in IT over the next three years to ensure that high quality learning and teaching support is achieved

• The transfer of two new schools in Liverpoo: have been agreed. Dixons Fazakerley is transferring across from 1 September 2021 and
Dixons Broadgreen from 1 December 202::..

• The Trust has bid for a free school in Manchester and is the ;:ireferred soonsor for another school in that city.

Funds held as custodian on behalf of others and agency arrangements 

The Trust rece!ves 16-19 bursary payments from the Educatlon and Skills Funding Agency. The Trust does not recognise this Ir.come as 
its ow:, incorr.e and pays out all monies rece!ved for rts primary purpose to the relevant parties. Other than this agency arrangement, 
the Trust does not act as a custodian trustee on behalf of others. 

Pension reserve 

The presence of a pension surplus or deficit does not constitute an immediate realisable asset or !iability and does not mean the 
equivalent amount is already comrr.itted or no longer available. 

The presence of a pension surplus or deflclt will generally result In a cash flow effect for the Trust in the form er. a de::rease or increase 
in the employer's pe�sion contributions over a period of years. The Tn.:st :s confident that it can r.'leet the required pension contributions 
from projected fature income without a significant impact on its planned leve! of activity. 

The risk surrounding the Trust's pens'o:1 lfability has been taken into consideration when preparing the annual budgets and, therefore, 
the Trust's reserves requirement will continue to be calculated without setting aside a designated reserve !:c cover the pens;o:1 liability. 
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Disclosure of information to auditors 

Each of the persons who are Trustees at the time when this Trustees' report is a pp roved has confirmed that: 

• as far as the Trustees are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the charitable company's auditors are unaware

• Trustees have taken all the steps that ought to have been taken as a Trustee in order to be made aware of any relevant audit
information and to establish that the charitable company's auditors are aware of that information.

This report, incorporating a strategic report, was approved by order of the Board of Trustees, as the company directors, on 2 December 
2021, signed on its behalf by: 

Mike Blackburn OBE 

Chair, Trust Board 
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Governance Statement for the Year Ended 31 August 2021 

Scope of responsibility 

As Trustees, we acknowledge we have overall responsibility for ensuring that Dixons Academies Trust has an effective and appropriate 
system of contro[, financial and otherwise. However, such a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to 
achieve business objectives a:,d car. provide on:y reasonable and not absc!:.ite assurance against mater;ai r.-:lsstatement or loss. 

As Trustees, we have rev:ewed and taken accour.t of the guidance in DfE's Governance Handbook and competency framework for 
governance. 

The Tr..1st Board has delegated the day-to-day ,esponsibi!ity to the Chief Executive Off:cer, as Accounting Officer, for ensuring fir:a:,ciai 
controls conform with the requireme,� cf both propriety a!'ld good fi:,ar.cia: mar.agement and in accordance with the requirements 
and responsibilities assigned ':o it in the for.ding agreement between ::>ixons Academies Trust and the Secretary of S':a-::e for Education. 
They are also responsible for reporting to the Trust Board any materla: weaknesses or breakdowns in lnternai control. 

Governance 

The information on governance included he:-e supp:ements that described in the Trustees' Report and in the Statement of Governors' 
Responsibilities. The Trust Board has forma:!y met seven times during the year. 

The Flnance and Audit Committees, which :neets at 1east three times per year, are sub-committees of the main Trust Board. Its purpose 
ls to assist the :rust Board in fulfilling its oversight respons!bf!lties with regard to the financial management of the Trust. It does this 
thro�gh the rev1ew offinanc!a! projections, ma:iagement accounts and balance sheet recor.clliatio!'1s and to make recommendations 
to the Trust Boa�d. In addition, it reviews the financial statements a!'1d a::count:ng poHcies, receives and reviews the internal and 
external aud[tors report and ensures that recommendations are actioned and risk managed. 

Attendance d:.tring the year at meetings of the Trust Board, Finance Commi':tee a!ld Au::lit Committee was as follows: 

Name Trust Board Audit Committee Finance Committee 

Lym, Barrett 7/7 -

Ruby Bhatti QBE 6/7 3/4 -

John Bowers MBE 6/7 - -

David Clayton 7/7 - -

Bryan Colli!'1s 6/7 - -

Brent Fitzpatrick MBE (Chair, Finance Committee) 7/7 - 3/3 

Nancy O'Neil - 3/4 -

Jo Lynch - 2/4 -

Susan Richardson 7/7 - . 

Sarah Young 7/7 - 3/3 

Mike Blackburn OBE 4/4 -

Ku I dip Nijja r 3/3 2/2 

Helen Thornton 2/3 

James Wifkinson - - 3/3 

John Holroyd - - 3/3 

Julia Lea - 1/2 

Review of value for money 

As Acccu:'!ting Officer, the Chief Executive Officer has responsibility for ensur!ng that the Trust delivers good va!ue ir: the :.ise of pubiic 
resources. The Accounting Officer understands !hat value for money refers to the educational and w:der soc1eta: o;.itcomes ach:eved 
in return for the taxpayer resources received. The Accounting Officer considers how the Tn..1st' s use of its resources has provided good 
value for moriey curing each academic year and reports to the Trust Board where value for money can be improved, indud:!lg �he use 
of benchmarking data where avaf:able. The Accour.ting Officer for the Trust has de[:vered improved vaii.:e for money during the year 
throt.;gh im�roved p:-ocurement initiat:ves and centralisation of s:.ipport functions, wr.ere appropriate. 
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Financial governance and oversight 

The Trust benefits from the provision of an independent internal audit service provided by BDO. BDO reports directly to the Audit 

Committee on all systems and procedures together with other areas identified in the 3-year Internal Audit Programme e.g. Governance, 
Health and Safety, Safeguarding, Risk Management etc. 

The Trust receives support throughout the year from its External Auditors on compliance and accounting practices. 

The Finance Committee receives monthly management accounts and balance sheet reports, including cashflow statements and 
working capital analysis, together with a detailed analysis of all significant variances. Compliance with the Scheme of Delegation is also 

monitored by the Finance and Audit Committees, which reviews the Scheme annually. 

The Trust Board approves the budget each year bearing in mind the requirement to achieve a balanced budget and to ensure that the 
Trust remains a "going concern". The Trust Board also receives and approves the Trustees' annual report and accounts together with 

external auditor's management Letter. 

Better purchasing- ensuring value for money 

Contracts and services are regularly appraised and renegotiated when appropriate to ensure value for money. The Trust takes 

advantage of consortia, when appropriate, to obtain economies of scale. During COVID-19, the Trust followed the guidance given in 
PPN 02/20 and PPN 04/20 and paid suppliers who were unable to continue supplying the Trust as normal and paid them as normal 

during the period of lockdown to March 2021. This included catering suppliers, agency staff and companies supplying exam enrolment 
for students. 

Reviewing controls and managing risk 

Monthly budget monitoring reports are prepared for review by the Trust's Head of Finance and academy Principals; appropriate action 
is taken to address any variances that may have an impact on the budget out-turn. The Trust ensures that all surplus cash balances are 

invested in interest bearing accounts to maximise interest earning potential. Investment institutions are selected carefully to provide 
the most acceptable balance of return and risk. 

The purpose of the system of internal control 

The system of Internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk of failure to achieve 

policies, aims and objectives; therefore, it can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of 
internal control is based on an on-going process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of Trust policies, aims 
and objectives. Also, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised, the impact should they be realised and to manage them 
efficiently, effectively and economically. The Trust's system of internal control has been in place for the year ended 31 August 2021 

and up to the date of approval of the annual report and financial statements. 

Capacity to handle risk 

The Trust Board has reviewed the key risks to which the Trust is exposed together with the operating, financial and compliance controls 
that have been implemented to mitigate those risks. The Trust Board is of the view that there is a formal ongoing process for risks 

management that has been in place for the year ending 31 August 2021 and up to the date of approval of the annual report and 
financial statements. This process is regularly reviewed by the Trust Audit Committee and the Trust Board. 

The risk and control framework 

The Trust's system of internal financial controi is based on a framework of regular management information and administrative 
procedures including the segregation of duties and a system of delegation and accountability. In particular, it includes: 

• comprehensive budgeting and monitoring systems, with an annual budget and periodic financial reports, which are reviewed and
agreed by the Trust Board

• regular reviews by the Finance Committee of reports which indicate financial performance against the budget/forecasts and of major
purchase plans, capital works and expenditure programmes in line with the Scheme of Delegation

A setting targets to measure financial and other performance

11, clearly defined purchasing (asset purchase or capital investment) guidelines 

• delegation of authority and segregation of duties

• identification and management of risks
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Dixons Academies Trust 

Governance Statement for the Year Ended 31 August 2021 

The risk and control framework {continued) 

The Trust Board has considered the r.eed for a specific lnternal At.:dit function a!'ld has appointed BDU from 1 September 2020 after 
going through a successfu! tender process to carry out internai scrutfny and the nature of work that they have been engaged to perform. 
The internal Aud!t function reports directly to the Audit and Risk Committee. 

The internal auditor's role includes giving advice on financial and other matters a:,d performing a range of checks on the Trust's financial 
and othe, systems. In particular, the checks carried cut in tie current per!od included: 

• Credft card and expenses

• Health and Safety

• Human Resources

• IT General Controls

Review of effectiveness 

As Acccunt!:,g Officer, the Chief Executive Office, has responsibility for reviewing the effect:veness of the system of :r.ternal control. 

Duri:,g the year in question, the review has been Informed by: 

• the work of the Internal Auditor

., the work of the External Auditor 

., the financial management and governance sel:'-assessment process 

• the work of the Executive Directors within the Trust who have responsibility for the development and maintenance of the internal
control framework

Based on the fnternal auditor's annual statement of assurance, the risk management activities and controls ln the areas whicr. were 
examined were found to be suitably des:gned to achieve the specific risk management, flnancfal and internal control frameworks ar.d 
governa!lce arrangements for the period under review. Based on the sample testing, financial anci internal control frameworks and 
governa!'lce arrangements were operating with sufficient effectiveness to provide reasonable assurance that the related risk 
management, control and governance objectives were achieved for the period under review for all areas tested with :hree exceptions 
of credit cards, HR and lT Genera! Controls where limited assurance was obtained. 

Since these audits were completed the Trust has taken swift action to address fin dings in order to Increase assura nee regarding Internal 
controls and Instigated further checks and training where required. 

The Accounting Officer has bee:, advised of the implications of the result of their review of the system of internal cont:-ol by the Finance 
and Audit Committee's and as detai:ed above, a plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in 
place. 

Approved by order of the members of the Trust Board on 2 December 2021 and signed on its behalf by: 

� A:!j/J� 
Mike Blackburn OBE 

Chair, Trust Board 
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Dixons Academies Trust 

Statement on Regularity, Propriety and Compliance for the Year Ended 31 August 2021 

As Accounting Officer of Dixons Academies Trust I have considered my responsibility to notify the academy trust board of trustees and 
the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) of material irregularity, impropriety and non-compliance with ESFA terms and 
conditions of funding, under the funding agreement in place between the academy Trust and the Secretary of State for Education. As 
part of my consideration, I have had due regard to the requirements of the Academies Trust Handbook 2021. 

I confirm that I and the academy Trust Board of Trustees are able to identify any material irregular or improper use of funds by the 
academy trust, or material non-compliance with the terms and conditions of funding under the academy trust's funding agreement 
and the Academies Trust Handbook 2021. 

I confirm that no instances of material irregularity, impropriety or funding non-compliance have been discovered to date. If any 
instances are identified after the date ofthis statement, these will be notified to the board of trustees and ESFA. 

__ 1¥)_,J� 
SirNWeller 

Accounting Officer 

2 December 2021 
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Dixons Academies Trust 

Statement of Trustees' Responsibilities for the Year Ended 31 August 2021 

"'."t:e Trustees (who are also the directors of the charitable cor.i!,'.)ar.y for the pu<poses of compa:iy iaw) are responsible for pre pa ring the 
Trustees' �epo1: (inciuding the Stra:egic Report and Directors' �eport) and :he financial statements in accordar.ce with the Ar.nua! 
Accounts Direction published by the !:d;.rcation and Skii!s Fund:'lg Agency ('i::S!=A'), United Kingdom Acco;.rnt!ng Standards (United 
K'.ngdom Generally Accepted Acco;;nting Practice) and a;:ip!lcable !aw and regu:ations. 

Company law reqL:ires the Trustees to prepare f;nancial statements for each financ:a! year. Ur.der compar.y law the Trustees must nc':: 
aoprove the fi:,a:,ciai stateme:-:ts unless '::hey are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the charitab,e 
company and cf ;ts incoming resoJrces and app!ication of resources, including its 1ncome and expenditure, for that period. in preparing 
these financial statemen!s, the Trustees are reql.;ired to: 

• select su:tab!e accounting polic:es and then app;y them consistently

• observe the methods and principles In the Cha�ities SORP 2019 and the Academies Accounts D!rection 2020 to 2021

• make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prt.:dent

t state whether appl:cab!e UK Accounting Standards have been fol:owed, subject to any materia; departures disdosed and explained 
in the fina!'lcial statements 

• prepare the financia! statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the charitable company will

continue in operation

The Trustees are responsible for keeclng adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the charitable company's 
transactions and d:sclose with reasor.ab:e accuracy at any t:rr.e the friancial position o! tne charitable compa:iy and enable them to 
ensure that the finar.cia! statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguard;ng the assets of 
the charitabie company and hence for taking reasonabie steps for the preventlon a:id detection of fraud and other irregu,arities. 

The Trustees are responsible for ensur:ngtnat in its conduct and operation the charitable company applies financial and other controls, 
which conform to the requirements both of propriety and of good financial management. They are also responsible for ensuring grants 
received from ESFA/DfE have been applied for the purposes intended. 

The Trustees are responsib:e for the ma!ntenance ar.d integrity of the corporate and financiai information fnch .. ded on the charitable 
company's website. Legislation in the United Kir.gdom govern•ng the preparation and disseminat:on of financial statements may differ 
from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

Approved by order of the me. 

Mike Blackburn OBE 

Chair, Trustees 
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Dixons Academies Trust 

Independent Auditor's Report on the Financial Statements to the Members of Dixons Academies 

Trust 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Dixons Academies Trust (the 'academy trust') for the year ended 31 August 2021 which 
comprise the Statement of Financial Activities, the Balance Sheet, the Statement of Cash Flows and the related notes, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable 
law, United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including Financial Reporting 
Standard 102 'The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland', the Charities SORP 2019 and the 
Academies Accounts Direction 2020 to 2021 issued by the Education and Skills Funding Agency. 

In our opinion the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the academy trust's affairs as at 31 August 2021 and of its incoming resources and application
of resources, including its income and expenditure for the year then ended

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice

• have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, the Charities SORP 2019 and the Academies
Accounts Direction 2020 to 2021 issued by the Education and Skills Funding Agency

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable law. our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the academy trust in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the 
financial statements in the United Kingdom, including the Financial Reporting Council's Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Trustees' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the 
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate. 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, 
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the academy trust's ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at 
least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Trustees with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this 
report. 

Other information 

The other information comprises the information included in the Trustees Annual Report other than the financial statements and our 
Auditors' Report thereon. The Trustees are responsible for the other information contained within the Trustees Annual Report. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our 
report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing 

so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements, or our knowledge obtained in the 
course of the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. lf we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 

misstatements, we are required to determine whether this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. 
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 
to re po rt that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006 

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit: 

• the information given in the Trustees' Annual Report incorporating the Strategic Report and the Directors' Report for the financial
year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements

• the Strategic Report and the Directors' Report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements

22 
Dixons Academies Charitable Trust • A Company Limited by Guarantee ._;\'.✓,. 

Registered Office: Dixons City Academy. Ripley Street. Bradford, West Yorkshire. BO5 7RR Registered in England No: 2303464 ',(';{.':;_ · 



Dixons Academies Trust 

Independent Auditor's Report on the Financial Statements to the Members of Dixons Academies 

Trust 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

In the l!ght cf cur knowledge and understanding of the academy trust and Its envlronrr.ent obtained in the cou�se cf the audit, we have 
net identified material misstate11ents ir. the Trustees' Annuai Report including the Strategic Report and the Directors' Repo:t. 

We have nothing to report in respect oft!':e fcl!owing ma�ters i:, relatio:, to which the Companies Act 2006 requires us to report to you 
if, in our opinion: 

• adequate accou�ting records !':ave r.ot been kept, or returns adequate fa� our audit have not been received fro!TI branches not visited
by us, or

• the financial statements are not In agreement with the account1ng records and returns, or

• certain disclosures of Trustees' remuneration specified by law are not made, o�

• we have not received al: the information and explanations we require for our audit

Responsibilities of Trustees 

As explained more fully in the Trustees' Respo!'lsibilities Statement, the Trustees (who are also the directors of the charitable company 
for the purposes of company law] are responsible for the preparation of the financia! statements and for being satisfied that they give

a true ar.d fair view, and for such internal control as the Trustees determlr.e is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

in prepa�ing the financial statements, the Trustees are respo:isib!e for assessing the char;table company's ability to continue as a going 
CC!;cern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Trustees 
either intend to liquidate the academy or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditors' responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to cbtain reasonable assurance about whethe:- the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whet!ier due to fraud or error, ar.d to issue an Auditors' Report that includes our opinion. Reasor.able assurance is a 
high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an ai,;dit conducted in accordance with ISAs (LJK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. M!sstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reaso!1abfy be expected to influence the eco!'lomic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements. 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our 
responsibilities, out!ined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The extent to which our 
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud is detailed below: 

Our approach �o ;der.tify;ng and assessing the risks of material misstatement :n respect of irregu!arities, including fraud and non­
compl;ance with laws and regulations, was as follows: 

• we identified the laws and regulations app'.lcable to the academy trust through discussions with management, and from our
knowledge and experience of the sector

• we focused en specific :aws a:,d regu!ations which we considered may have a direct material effect on the accounts or the operations
of the academy trust, including the Charities Act 201'1 and the guidance issued by the ESFA

• we assessed the extent of compliance with the laws and regulat!o:is identified abcve thro:.igh T!'laking enquiries of management and
ir.specting corresponde:ice with the regulators

• identified laws and regulations were communicated within the audit team and the team remained alert to instances of non-
comp!lance throughou':the a;.idit

We assessed the susceptibility of the academy trust's accounts to material misstatement, including obtaining an understanding of how 
fraud might occ:.ir, by: 

• rr.ak:ng er.qu:ries of management as to where they considered there was susceptibility to fraud, their knowledge of actual, suspectec!
and alleged fraud

• considering the internal controls in place to m:tigate risi<s of fraud and non-compliance with laws and regulatfons

To address the risk offraud through management bias and override of controls, we: 

• performed a:ialytica! prccedures to identify any unusual or unexpected relationships

• tested journal entries to identify unusual tra:-isactions
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Dixons Academies Trust 

Independent Auditor's Report on the Financial Statements to the Members of Dixons Academies 

Trust 

• assessed whether judgements and assumptions made in determining the accounting estimates set out in the accounting policies
were indicative of potential bias

• investigated the rationale behind significant or unusual transactions

In response to the risk of irregularities and non-compliance with laws and regulations, we designed procedures which included, but 
were not limited to: 

• agreeing financial statement disclosures to underlying supporting documentation

• reviewing correspondence with regulators and reading minutes of meetings of those charged with governance

• enquiring of management as to actual and potential litigation and claims

Because of the inherent limitations of an audit, there is a risk that we will not detect all irregularities, including those leading to a 
material misstatement in the financial statements or non-compliance with regulation. This risk increases the more that compliance 
with a law or regulation is removed from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, as we will be less likely to 
become aware of instances of non-compliance. The risk is also greater regarding irregularities occurring due to fraud rather than error, 
as fraud involves intentional concealment, forgery, collusion, omission or misrepresentation. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial Reporting Council's 
website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our Auditors' Report. 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the academy trust's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 
2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the academy trust's members those matters we are required to 
state to them in an Auditors' Report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the academy trust and its members, as a body, for our audit work, for th is report, or for the opinions 
we have formed. 

r Statutory Auditor) 

BHP LLP 

Chartered Accountants 

Statutory Auditor 

1st Floor Mayesbrook House 

Leeds 

LS166QY 

Date: I'!:. � �\ 
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Dixons Academies Trust 

Independent Reporting Accountant's Assurance report on Regularity to Dixons Academies Trust 

and the Education & Skills Funding Agency for the Vear Ended 31 August 2021 

;n accordance with the terms of our engagement letter dated 20 October 2020 and ft:rther to the requirer.,ents of the Education and 
SkHrs Fund:ng Agency (ESFA) as :r:cludec in the Academies Accounts D;rection 2020 to 2021, we have carried out an engager:1ent �o 
obtain llmlted assurance about whe':he� t!ie expend!tu�e disbursed and income rece1ved by Dixons Academies Trust during the year 1 
September 2020 to 31 August 2021 have bee:, appiied to the purposes ident:fled by Parilament and the f!nancial transactior.s conform 
to the authorities w�ich govern the:.i. 

This report is made solely to Dixons Academies '.rust and ESFA in accordarce with the terms of our engage!'Tlent ietter. Our work has 
beer, undertaken so that we m;ght state to Dixons Academies Trust and ES!=A those matters we are requked tc state in a report and 
for r.o other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by !aw, we do not accept or assume responsibiii�y to anyone other than Dfxo:is 
Academies Tn.ist and ESFA, for our work, for this report, or for the :onclusion we have formed. 

Respective responsibilities of Dixons Academies Trust's accounting officer and the reporting accountant 

The acco:.ir.ting officer is responsible, .. mder the requ:reme:,ts cf Dixons Academies Tr:.:S::'s fond,ng agreeme!'lt with the Secretary of 
State for Educatio!'l dated 1 �ecember 2016 a:,d the Academies F:r.a!'lc:ai Handbook, extant from 1 September 2020, fer ensuri:,g that 
expenditure disb:.irsed and income received is applied for the p..irposes :ntended by ParEament a'ld the financial transact:ons conform 
to the authorit:es which govern them. 

Our responsibilities for this engagement are establ!shed In the United Kingdom by our profession's ethical guidance and are to obtain 
llmlted assurance ar.d report in accordance with our engagement letter and the requirements of the Academies Accounts Direction 
2020 to 2021. We repo:t to you whether ar.ythl:'\g has come to our attention in carrying o:..it our work which suggests that in all material 
respects, expendfture disbursed and income received during the year 1 September 2020 to 31 A.1gust 2021 have :10: been appl:ed to 
purposes irtended by Parliament or that the fbar.::ia; transact:cns do not co!'lform to the authorities which govern them. 

Approach 

We conducted our engagement in accordance with the Academies Accounts Direction 2020 to 2021 issued by ESFA. We performed a 
limited assurance engagement as defined ln our engagement letter. 

The objective of a limited assurance engagement is to perform such procedures as to obtain information and explanations in order to 
provide us with sufficient appropriate ev:dence to express a negative conclusion on regularity. 

A limited assurance engagement is more limited in scope thar. a reasonable assurance engagement and consequently does not enable 
us to obtain assurance that we wouid become aware of a!! significa"lt matters that might be identi:'ied in a reasoiable assurance 
engagement. Accordingly, we do not express a positive opinion. 

Our engagement includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the regularity and propriety of the academy's income 
and expenditl.!re. 

The work undertaken to draw our conclusion includes: 

• checking that the academy trust's activities are cor.s:ste:,t wfth its framework and its charitable objectives

., checking that the governors and key staff have disciosed their interest in related parties, discussing the same with management a�d 
reviewing transactions ciu�1ng the period for undisc!osed related party transactions 

• checking that any re'.ated party tra"lsactions during the period are conducted at normal comme�cial rates

• checking that academy trust expenditure :s permitted by :ts funding agreement

• check;ng that any borrowings entered in�o, i!'lcluding leases, are in accordance with the Academies Handbook

• checkfng that any land a:.d bui!ding transactions, especially disposals, are in line with the funding agreement and Academies
Handbook
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Dixons Academies Trust 

Independent Reporting Accountant's Assurance report on Regularity to Dixons Academies Trust 

and the Education & Skills Funding Agency for the Year Ended 31 August 2021 

Conclusion 

In the course of our work, nothing has come to our attention which suggest in all material respects the expenditure disbursed and 

income received during the year 1 September 2020 to 31 August 2021 has not been applied to purposes intended by Parliament and 
the financial transactions do not conform to the authorities which govern them. 

BHP LLP 

Chartered Accountants 

Statutory Auditor 

1st Floor Mayesbrook House 

Leeds 

LS166QY 
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Dixons Academies Trust 

Statement of Financial Activities for the Year Ended 31 August 2021 

(Including Income and Expenditure Account and Statement of Total Recognised Gains and losses) 

Note Un restricted Restricted Restricted Total Total 
funds general fixed 2021 2020 
£000 funds asset £000 £000 

£000 funds 

£000 
Income and endowments from: 

Donations and capital grants 3 8 (627) 2,120 1,501 2,110 
Tra;isfer in of buiidings/FFE 3 39,998 
Charitable activities: 

- Funding for the Trust's

- educational operatlons 4 98 58,570 58,668 52,002 
Teach;r.g Schoof 32 173 166 339 278 
Other trading activities 5 1,090 1,090 1,140 
i!Westmer.�s 6 6 6 18 

Total 1,375 58,109 2,120 61,604 95,546 

Expenditure on: 

Charitable activities: Trust educational 
operations 7 667 59,700 4,215 64,582 59,046 
Teach!ng Schoo: 32 327 327 261 
Othe� 

Total 667 60,027 4,215 64,909 59,307 

Net income/(expenditure} 708 (1,918) (2,095) (3,305) 36,239 

Transfers between funds 19 (349) 349

Other recognised galns/(losses): 

Actuarial (losses)/gains on defined 

benefit pension schemes 19,29 1,826 1,826 (6,047) 

Net movement in funds 707 (441) (1,746) (1,479) 30,192 

Reconciliation of funds 

Total fonds brought forward 187 (18,486} 112,892 94,593 64,401 

Total funds carried forward 895 (18,927) 111,146 93,114 94,593 

A!I the Trusts' activities derive from co:itinuing operatior,s during the above two financial periods. 
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Dixons Academies Trust 

Balance Sheet as at 31 August 2021- Company Number 02303464 

2021 2021 2020 2020 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Fixed assets 

Intangible assets 13 59 78 

Tangible assets 14 110,908 112,640 

Current assets 

Stock 15 51 70 

Debtors 16 2,556 2,459 

Cash at bank and in hand 8,484 6,668 
� --- ----· .... -- ----- -··· ···..---·-

11,091 -----·- 9,197 _

Liabilities 

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 17 (4,719) . (5,208) 

Net current assets 6,372 3,989 

Total assets less current liabilities 117,339 116,707 

Net assets excluding pension liability 117,339 116,707 

Defined benefit pension scheme liability 19,29 (24,225) (22,114) 

Total net assets 93,114 94,593 

Funds of the Trust: 

Restricted funds 

. Fixed asset fund 19 111,146 112,892 

. Restricted income fund 19 5,298 3,628 

. Pension reserve 19,29 (24,225) •·~·----
(22,114) 

__

Total restricted funds 92,219 94,406 

Unrestricted income funds 19 895 187 

Total funds 93,114 94,593 

The financial statements on pages 27 to SO were approved by the Trustees and authorised for issue on 2 December 2021 and are signed 

on their behalf by: 

Mike Blackburn OBE 
Chair, Trust Board 
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Dixons Academies Trust 

cash Flow Statement for the Year Ended 31 August 2021 

Notes 2021 2020 

£000 £000 

Cash flows from operating activities 

Net cash provided by operating activities 23 1,960 959 

Net Cash flows from investing activities 24 (144) (397)

Change In cash and cash equivalents in the reporting period 1,816 552 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 September 2020 6,668 6,106 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 August 2021 25 8,484 6,668 
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Dixons Academies Trust 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2021 

1 Accounting policies 

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted (which have been applied consistently, except where noted), judgements and 

key sources of estimation uncertainty, is set out below. 

1.1 Basis of preparation 

Dixons Academies Trust is a private limited company limited by guarantee incorporated in England. The address of the registered office 
is given in the Reference and Administrative Details given on page 3 of these financial statements. The nature of the Trust's operations 

and principal activities are set out in the Trustees' Report on page 5. 

The financial statements of the Trust, which is a public benefit entity under FRS 102, have been prepared under the historical cost 

convention in accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard Applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102), the Accounting 
and Reporting by Charities: Statement of Recommended Practice applicable to charities preparing their accounts in accordance with 
the Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland (FRS 102) (Charities SORP {FRS 102)), the Academies 

Accounts Direction 2020 to 2021 issued by ESFA, the Charities Act 2011 and the Companies Act 2006. 

The financial statements are prepared in sterling, which is the functional currency of the Trust. Monetary amounts in these financial 
statements are rounded to the nearest £1,000. 

A summary of the principal accounting policies adopted (which have been applied consistently, except where noted), judgements and 

key sources of estimation uncertainty, is set out below. 

1.2 Fund accounting 

Unrestricted income funds represent those resources which may be used towards meeting any of the charitable objects of the Trust at 
the discretion of the Trustees. 

Restricted General funds are resources subject to specific restrictions imposed by funders or donors and include grants from the 

Education and Skills Funding Agency/ Department for Education. 

Restricted Fixed Assets Funds are resources which are to be applied to specific capital purposes imposed by the Education Funding 
Agency and other funders, where the asset acquired or created is held for a specific purpose on a continuing basis. 

1.3 Incoming resources 

All incoming resources are recognised when the Trust has entitlement to the funds, certainty of receipt and the amount can be 
measured with sufficient reliability. 

Grant income is included in the Statement of Financial Activities on a receivable basis. The balance of income received for specific 

purposes but not expended during the period is shown in the relevant funds on the balance sheet. Where income is received in advance 
of entitlement of receipt, its recognition is deferred and is included in creditors as deferred income. Where entitlement occurs before 

income in received, the income is accrued and is included in debtors as accrued income. 

The general annual grant ('the GAG') is recognised in full in the Statement of Financial Activities in the year for which it is receivable, 

any abatement in respect of the period is deducted from income and is recognised as a liability. 

Capital grants are recognised in full when there is an unconditional entitlement to the grant. Unspent amounts of capital grant are 
reflected in the balance sheet on the restricted fixed asset fund. Capital grants are recognised when there is entitlement and are not 
deferred over the life of the asset on which they are expended. 

Other grants from government agencies and other bodies are recognised in the period in which they are receivable to the extent the 

conditions of funding have been met. Where income is received in advance of entitlement of receipt, its recognition is deferred and 
included in creditors as deferred income. Where entitlement occurs before income is received, the income is accrued. 

Sponsorship income provided to the Trust, which amounts to a donation, is recognised in the Statement of Financial Activities in the 
period in which it is receivable (where there are no performance-related conditions), where the receipt is probable and it can be 
measured reliably. 

Donations are recognised on a receivable basis (where there are no performance-related conditions) where the receipt is probable and 
the amount can be reliably measured. Other income, including the hire of facilities, is recognised in the period it is receivable and to 
the extent the Trust has provided the goods or services. 

The value of donated services and gifts in kind provided to the Trust are recognised at their open market value in the period in which 

they are receivable in incoming resources, where the benefit to the Trust can be reliably measured. An equivalent amount is included 

as expenditure under the relevant heading in the Statement of Financial Activities, except where the gift in kind was a fixed asset in 
which case the amount is included in the appropriate category and depreciated over the useful economic life in accordance with Trust 

policies. 
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1.3 Incoming resources (continued) 

Where the donated good is a fixed asset, it is measured at fair value, unless it is impractical !o measure this rel'abiy, in which case the 
cost of t�e item to the donor should be used. The gain is recogr::sed as !ncome from dor.atlons and a corresponding a mount is ;nc!uded 
ln the approprlate fixed asset category and depreciated over the useful economic :ife in accordance wi!h the Trust's pollcles. 

1.4 Resources expended 

Expenditure is recognised o:,ce there is a legal or co:,structive ob:iga!ion to trans�r eccno:n:c benefit to a th:rd party; it is probable 
tr.at a transfer of econorr:;c benefit wiil be requi�ed in settlement and the amour.t of the obligation can be measured rellab:y. 
Expenditure is classified by act:vity. The cos!s of each activ!ty are made t,;p of -::he total cf direct costs and sha�ed costs, including support 
costs Involved in undertaking each activ:ty. D:rect costs attrlbu!abie to a s:ngle activ1ty are a:iocated directly to that activity. Shared 
costs which contribL.1:e to mere than one activity and shared costs which are not attributable to a slng!e activity are apportioned 
between those actlvit!es on a basis consister:t w:th the use of resources. Central staff costs a re al!ocated on the basis of time spent 
and depreciatio:, charges allocated or. the pcrtior. of the assets' use. 

Charitab!e activi!:es and Governance costs are incurred on the Trusts' educational operations, includi:,g support costs and costs relating 
to the governance of the Trust apportioned to charitable activities. 

All resources expended are inclusive of irrecoverable VAT. 

1.5 Going concern 

The Tn.:stees assess whether the use of going concern is approprfate i.e. whether there are a:,y material uncertainties re!ated to events 
or conditio:is that may cast significant doubt on the ability of the Trust to continue as a going co:,cern. The Tr.istees make this 
assessment in respect of a period of at least one year from the date of authorisation for issue of the financial staterr.ents and have 
concluded that the Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeab,e future and there are no 
material uncertaint:es about the Trust to continue as a going concern, thus they continue to adopt a going concern basis In preparing 
the flnanclal statements. 

1.6 Intangible fixed assets and amortisation 

Intangible asse!s costing rr.ore than £500 are capitalised and recognised when future economic benefits are probable and the cost or 
value of the asset can be measured re:iably. [nta:,gible assets are initiaEy re::ognised at cost and are subseqi.:ently measurec at cost 
net of amortisation and any provision for impair�ent. 

Intangible assets are amortised at 25% straight line. 

1. 7 Tangible fixed assets

Ali assets costing more than £500 a:,d with a useful life of more than three years are capitalised. 

A review for impairment of a fixed asset is carried out if events or changes ir. circumstances indicate that the ca�rying value of any fixed 
asset may not be rea!isab}e. Shortfails between the carrying value of a fixed asset and their realisable va:ue are recognised as 
Impairments. Impairment losses are recognised In the Statement of Financial Activities. 

Software pi..:rchased independently o� computers is included In lntanglb[e fixed assets In accordan:::e with FRS 102.

Tangible fixed assets are carried at cost net of depreciation and any provis:on for impairment. Depreciation is ca!culated to write off 
the cost of tangible fixed assets over their estimated useful lives as follows: 

Freehold land 

Freehold buildings 

Leasehold Property 

Plant and machinery 

Furniture and equipment 

Computer equ;pment 

Motor Vehicles 

1.8 Interest receivable 

Nil 

1.67% -10% straight line 

2%-10% straight Line 

10%- 20% straight line 

10% - 20% straight line 

25% - 33% strarght line 

25% st�alght Une 

fnterest on funds held on deposit :s inciuded wher. receivable and the amount can be measured reliably by the Trust, this ls normally 
upon r.otifi::atior. of the in:erest paid o� payabie by the bank. 
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1.9 Stocks 

Stocks are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value after making due allowance for obsolete or slow-moving stock. Cost 

includes all direct costs and an appropriate proportion of fixed and variable overheads. 

1.10 Debtors 

Trade and other debtors are recognised at the settlement amount after any trade discount offered. Prepayments are valued at the 

amount prepaid net of any trade discount. 

1.11 Cash at bank and in hand 

Cash at bank and in hand includes cash and highly liquid investments with a short maturity of 12 months or less from the date of 

acquisition or opening of the deposit or similar account. 

1.12 Liabilities and provisions 

Liabilities are recognised when there is an obligation at the balance sheet date as a result of a past event; it is probable that a transfer 

of economic benefit will be required in settlement and the amount of the settlement can be estimated reliably. Liabilities are 
recognised at the amount the Trust anticipates it will pay to settle the debt or the amount it has received as advance payments for the 
goods or services it must provide. 

Provisions are recognised when the Trust has an obligation at the reporting date as a result of a past event which is likely to result in 
the transfer of economic benefits and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation. Where the effect of the time value of 
money is material, the provision is based on the present value of those amounts discounted at the pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
the risk specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised within interest payable and similar charges. 

1.13 Leased assets 

Rentals under operating leases are charged on a straight-line basis over the lease term. There were no benefits received as an incentive 
to sign an operating lease contract. 

The Trust has two academies where the buildings are subject to a contract under the Private Finance Initiative (PFI). This transaction 
is accounted for as a leasing transaction as the Trust only enjoys the benefit of the premises subject to the restrictions under the PFI 
agreement. The Trust does not hold substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership ofthe premises and the property is, therefore, 
accounted for as an operating lease. Consequently, the premises are not recognised as assets in the financial statements of the Trust. 

The annual charges under the PFI agreement are subject to a fixed formula but will vary over time, therefore, the annual charges are 
expensed to the income and expenditure account in the year they relate to as this treatment is considered more appropriate than 
recognition on a straight-line basis. 

1.14 Financial instruments 

The Trust only has financial assets and financial liabilities of a kind that qualify as basic financial instruments. Basic financial instruments 
are initially recognised at transaction value and subsequently measured at their settlement value with the exception of bank loans 

which are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

1.15 Investments 

Investments are carried at cost. The Trustees' investment powers are governed by the Memorandum and Articles of Association and 

allow the Trust to invest in a wide range of investment vehicles without restriction. 

1.16 Taxation 

The Trust is considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 of the Finance Act 2010 and, therefore, it meets the definition 
of a charitable company for UK corporation tax purposes. Accordingly, the Trust is potentially exempt from taxation, in respect of 
income or capital gains received within categories covered by Chapter 3 Part 11 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 or Section 256 of the 
Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the extent that such income or gains are applied exclusively to charitable purposes. 
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1.17 Pensions 

qetirerr.ent benefits to em;,loyees of the Trust are provided by the Teachers' Pension Scheme ('TPS') and the Local Government Pens:on 
Scheme ('LGPS'), "These are defined benefit schemes. 

The TPS is an unfunded scheme and contribu�ions are calculated to spread the cost of pensions overemp!cyees' working lives w!th the 
Trust in such a way that the pensior. cost is a substantia:ly levei percentage of currer.t a:,d future pens:onable payroll. The cor.t�:but;ons 

are determined by the Gove:-nment Actuary based on quadrennia: va:uatior.s using a prospective unit credit rr.ethod. TPS is an 
u:,funded multi-em;:iloyer scheme with no underiying assets to assign between employers. Co.'1sequently, the TPS is treated as a 
defined contr1bution scheme for accm:!1ting purposes and the cont�ibutions :-ecogn:sed in the period to which they relate. 

The LGPS is a funded scheme and the assets are held separate[y from those of the Trust i� separate Trustee administerec: fur.ds. 
Pens!on scheme assets are measured at fair value and llabl:lties are measured on an actuarial bas!s uslr,g the projected U!'lit credit 
method ar.d d:scounted at a rate equivalent to the cu�rent rate of �eturn or a high-quality corporate bond of equivale:it ter:n and 
cu,rency to the liabilities. The actuarial valuations are obta::ied at least tr;ennially a:,d are updated at each balance date. The amou:,ts 
charged to operatir.g surplus are the current service costs, and the cost of scheme introductions, benefit changes, settiements and 
curtai!ments. They are included as part of staff costs, as i:icurred. 

Net interest on the net defined benefit liability/asset is also recogn:sed in the Staterr.ent of Financial Activities incorpo,ating i!lcome 
and exper.diture accounts and comprises ti':e !nte:-est cost a:, the defined benefit obligation and interest income or. the scheme asse3, 

calculated by multlplylng the fair vaiue of the scheme assets at the begir.r.ing of the per:od by the rate used to discount the be�efit 
obllgatlons. The difference between the Interest income on the scheme assets and tne actual retu�n 0:1 the scheme assets Is recog:iised 
in other recognised gains and losses. 

Actuarial gains and losses a,e recognised immediately in other recognised gains and losses. 

1.18 Critical accounting estimates and areas of judgement 

Estimates and Judgements are continually evaluated and a re based upon historical experience and other factors, induding expectations 
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 

The Trust makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates and assumptions will, by 
definition, seldom equal the related actual result. The estimates and ass:.imptio:,s that have a significant risk of causing a materiai 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liab;lities within the next financial year are highlighted below. 

The present value of the Local Gcvemment Pension Scheme defined benefit llabllity depends on a number of factors that are 
dete�mlned on a:, actuaria'. basis us1ng a variety of assumptions. 

The assumptions used in determining the net cost (income) for pensions include the discount facto� rate. Any changes in these 
asst.:mptions, which a�e disc1osed in note 29, wil! impact the carrying amo:.mt of the pension liability. Furthermore, a roll forward 
approach which projects results from the iatest fu:I actuarial valua�ion performed at 31 March 2019, has been used by tt:e actuary in 
valui:,g the pensions iiab:iity at 31 August 2021. Any differences between the figures derived from the roll forward approach and a full 
actuarial valuatio:i would impact on the carrying a:no:.int of the pension :iability. 

1.19 Reserves and Investment pollcy 

The Trustees have accepted the need for general long-term reserves to be maintained at a level approximately equal to 5% of turnover. 

To help fund short- and medium-term investment, the Trustees may trans:er to restricted funds a:, annual variable sum up to a 
maximum of 12% of government funds. This has not been necessary for the year end:ng 31 August 2021. 

1.20 Redundancy and severance payments 

Where the Trust has a construct!ve aablllty to make a redundancy payment, this Is recognised as and when the liablllty arises. Where 
the Trustees have agreed that it is in the fnterest of the Trust to make a severance payment which is not contractual, this is recognised 
as a liability once tr.e decision to make a payment has been ratified at a meeting o�the Board of Trustees. 

1.21 Agency arrangements 

The Trust acts as an agent in distributing 16-19 bursary funds frcm ESFA. Payments received from ESFA and subsequent cisbursements 
to students are excluded from the statement of financial actMties as the Trust does net have contra; over the char:table appl:cation of 
the funds. The Trust can use up to 5% of the allccatlon towards i3 own administration costs and this Is recognised in the statement of 

financial activities. The funds received and paid and any balances held are disclosed h note 31. 
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2 General Annual Grant (GAG) 

Under the funding agreement with the Secretary of State, the Trust is not subject to limits on the amount of GAG that can be carried 

forward from one year to the next. 

3 Donations and capital grants 

Unrestricted Restricted Total Total 

funds funds 2021 2020 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Capital grants 1,676 1,676 2,104 

Donated fixed assets 444 444 39,998 

Defined pension obligation 
(627) (627) 

inherited 
Other donations 8 8 6 

8 1,493 1,501 42,108 

The income from donations and capital grants, excluding defined pensions obligation and inherited and donated assets, was £1,684K 

(2020: £2,llOK) of which £8K was unrestricted (2020: £6K) and £1,676K was restricted fixed assets (2020: £2,104K). 

4 Funding for the Trust's educational operations 

Unrestricted Restricted Total Total 

funds funds 2021 2020 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

Reclassified 

DfE/ESFA grants 

General Annual Grant (GAG) 48,164 48,164 43,855 

Other DfE/ESFA grants 

Start-up grants 370 370 529 

UIFSM 298 298 294 

Pupil Premium 2,811 2,811 2,711 

Others 4,059 4,059 3,562 

55,702 55,702 50,951 

Other Government grants 

Local authority grants 1,561 1,561 978 

Other income from the academy 

Trust's educational operations 98 24 122 48 

COVID-19 additional funding 
(DfE/ESFA) 
Catch-up premium 628 628 

Other DfE/ESFA COVID-19 funding 490 490 25 

COVID-19 additional funding 
(non-DfE/ESFA) 
Coronavirus Job Retention 

Scheme grant 
Other COVID-19 funding 165 165 

Total 98 58,570 58,668 52,002 

Following the reclassification in the Academies Accounts Direction 2020/21 of some grants received from the Department for Education 
and ESFA, the academy trust's funding for Universal Infant Free School Meals is no longer reported under the Other DfE Group grants 

heading, but as separate lines under the Other DfE/ESFA grants heading. The prior year numbers have been reclassified. 

The income from funding for educational operations was £58,668K (2020: £52,002K) of which £98K was unrestricted (2020: £48K) and 
£58,570K was restricted (2020: £51,954K). 
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4 Funding for the Trust's educational operations (continued) 

The other grants above [:,ciude PE and Sports Grant, Teacher's pi!y grant, Teacher's pension grant, Project deveiop:nert grant, Rates 
rellef, Pre-opening gran:s, Emergency s.:ppo:t f;mdi!'lg, Strategic school improvement and Free Schoof Supplementary Grant. 

The Trust has been elig:ble to cla1m additioral funding In year frorr. governr.-:ent s:.ipport schemes in respor.se to the coronavlrus 
{COVID-19) oi;tbreak. The funding received is show:, above under "COVID-19 add1tiona: fund:rg (DfE/ESFA)". 

• The academy trust rece:ved £628K of funding for catch-tip premium and cost inc;,irred in respect of this funding totalled £264K, with
the �emain:ng £364:< to be spent in 2021./22.

• The other DfE/ESFA COVID-19 f:.mding fncludes National Tutoring Prngramme, COVID-19 exceptional s�pport cos:s funding, COVl:J-
19 Mass testing fund:ng and the summer schoo; programme fund totalling £490K a:,d cost incurred in respect of this fonding tcta!!ed
£413K, wlth the remaining £77 to be spent in 21/22, These costs are included in r:ote 7 below as appropriate.

• The Trust has not furloughed any of fts staff during the pandemic and, therefore, no claim was made under the Coronavirus Job
Reter.tion Scheme.

• ,he Other COVlD-19 funding rece:ved cf£165!< relates to the winterfue: grant from the Local Authority and cost :ncurred rn respect
of this funding totafled £131K, wi!h the remaining ba!ance to be s;ient in 2'.,./22. These costs are [ncluded h :iote 7 betow as
appropriate.

s Other trading activities 

Unrestricted Restricted Total Total 
funds funds 2021 2020 
£000 £000 £000 £000 

Letting's income 57 57 19 

Music income 24 24 28 

Cateri:,g income 631 631 702 

Other income 378 378 391 

1,090 1,090 1,140 

The income from other trading activities was fl,090K (2020: £1,140K} of wh:ch £1,090 was unrestricted (2020: £1,140} and £nil was 
restricted (2020: £:1 ii}. 

6 Investment Income 

Unrestricted Restricted Total Total 
funds funds 2021 2020 

£000 £000 £000 £000 
Short term deposits 6 6 18 

6 6 18 

The income from investment income was £GK (2020: £18:<) of which 6K was unrestriC::ed (2020: £18K} and £nil was restrlcted (2020: 

fni!}. 

35 
Dixons Academies Charitable Trust • A Company Limited by Guarantee _ \ / 

Register ,'<I Office: Dixons Cit/ Academy. Ripley Street, Bradford, West Yorkshire, BOS 7RR. Registe<ed in England No: 2303464 I,-,. 



Dixons Academies Trust 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Vear Ended 31 August 2021 

7 Expenditure 

Trust's educational operations: 

- direct costs

- allocated support costs

Teaching School 

Net income/(expenditure) for the period includes: 

Operating lease rentals: 

PFI 

Other operating leases 

Depreciation 

(Gain)/loss on disposal affixed assets 

Non-Pay Expenditure 

Staff costs Premises Other 

£000 £000 £000 

37,934 3,354 

8,260 639 14,395 

294 33 

46,488 639 17,782 

Amortisation of intangible fixed assets (included within Charitable Activities - Trust's educational 

operations) 

Fees payable to auditor for: 

- audit
- other services

Total 

2021 

£000 

Direct costs - educational operations 41,288 

Support costs - educational operations 23,185 

Support costs - governance 109 

64,582 

Direct costs - educational operations 

Total 
2021 

£000 

Wages and salaries 28,634 

National insurance 2,841 

Pensions costs 5,700 

Supply teachers 604 

Staff development 155 

Educational supplies 2,610 

Examination fees 682 

Other costs 62 

Total 41,288 

Total Total 
2021 2020 

£000 £000 

Reclassified 

41,288 38,987 

23,294 20,059 

327 261 

64,909 59,307 

2021 2020 
£000 £000 

Reclassified 

1,452 1,362 

186 156 

3,994 3,438 

(13) 

40 90 

36 35 

46 21 

Total 

2020 
£000 

Reclassified 

38,987 

19,974 

85 

59,046 

Total 

2020 
£000 

Reclassified 

27,139 

2,687 

5,268 

344 

214 

2,684 

609 

42 

38,987 
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7 Expenditure on charitable activities (continued) 

Support costs - educational operations 

Wages and salaries 

National Insurance 

Pensions costs 
Supo;y staff 

Recruitment and other staff costs 

Technology costs 

Maintenance of premises and equipment 
Ceani:,g 
Rent and rates 
Heat and light 
lnsura:1ce 

Security and transport 
Catering 
Operating leases 
Office overheads 

Depreciation 

Education supplies 
FRS102 pension costs 

::>fE laptops 

Bank charges 

Total 

Support costs • Governance 

Auditors' rer.,uneratior. 

Other costs 

Total 

8 Staff and Staff Costs 

Staff costs 

Staff costs during the period were: 

Wages and salaries 

Socia: security costs (lndudes Apprenticeship Levy) 

Pension costs 

Supp[y staff costs 

Staff restructuring costs 

FRS102 pension adjustment 

Staff restructuring costs comprise: 

Redundancy payments 

Severance payments 

Total 

2021 

£000 

6,538 
472 

815 

194 
241 

635 

639 
286 

611 

950 

192 

113 

1,335 

1,638 
914 

4034 

76 

3,310 

181 

11 

23,185 

2021 

£000 

82 

27 

109 

Total 
2021 

£000 

35,363 

3,334 

6,565 

45,262 

798 

33 

366 

46,459 

22 

11 

33 

Tota! 

2020 

£000 

6,045 

405 
714 

84 

200 

409 

592 

211 

588 

755 
172 

131 

1,136 
1,519 

811 

3,528 
122 

2,536 

13 

19,974 

2020 

£000 
Reclassified 

56 

29 

85 

Totai 

2020 

£000 

33,315 

3,1::.1 

6,016 

42,442 

428 

42 

247 

43,159 

15 

27 

42 

Included in staff restructuring costs are non-statutory and or non-contractuai severance payments totalling £10,775 (2020: £27,337). 
Individually the payments were: £2,775 and £8,000. 
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8 Staff and staff costs (continued) 

Staff numbers 

The average number of persons employed by the Trust during the period was as follows: 

Teachers 

Administration and support 

Management 

Teachers 

Administration and support 

Management 

Higher paid staff 

2021 

No. 

642 

655 

24 

1,321 

2021 

FTE 

620 

513 

24 

1,157 

The number of employees whose employee benefits (excluding employer pension costs and NI) exceeded £60,000 was: 

2021 

No. 

£60,001 - £70,000 11 

£70,001 - £80,000 13 

£80,001 - £90,000 3 

£90,001 - £100,000 4 

£100,001 - £110,000 

£110,001-£120,000 2 

£120,001 - £130,000 1 

£130,001 - £140,000 

£140,001 - £150,000 

£180,001 - £190,000 

£190,001 - £200,000 1 

Key management personnel 

The key management personnel of the Trust comprise the Trustees and the senior management team as listed on page 3. 

2020 
No. 
618 

602 

21 

1,241 

2020 
FTE 

596 

440 

21 

1,057 

2020 
No. 

13 

8 

3 

2 

3 

2 

1 

The total 

amount of employee benefits (including employer pension contributions and NI) received by key management personnel for their 

services to the Trust was £2.845 million (2020 £2.542 million). 

9 Trustees' remuneration and expenses 

The Chief Executive Officer only receives remuneration in respect of services he provides undertaking his role of Chief Executive Officer. 
Trustees did not receive any payments other than reimbursed expenses from Dixons Academies Trust in respect of their role as 
Trustees. 

During the year ended 31 August 2021, travel and subsistence expenses totalling £184 were reimbursed to 1 Trustee (2020 £nil). 
No remuneration was paid to any Trustee in the year nor in the prior year. 

10 Trustees and Officers insurance (RPA) 

The Trust has opted into the Department for Education's risk protection arrangement (RPA), an alternative to insurance where the UK 
government funds cover losses that arise. This scheme protects Trustees and Officers from claims arising from negligent acts, errors 
or omissions occurring whilst on Trust business, and provides cover up to £10,000,000. It is not possible to quantify the Trustees and 
officers' indemnity element from the overall cost of the RPA scheme membership. 
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11 Central services 

The Trust has provided the foliow:ng centra! serv:ces to its academies during the year: 

• Chief Executive Officer

• School improvement

• Finance, HR and payroll se:-v:ces

• Procure men: se!'Vices

• ICT network ar:d se:-vices

• Estate and site management

• Marketing, corr.mur.lcatlorcs, design services, website management and compl:ance

• Adrr:iss[ons management and appeals rr.anagement

• Legal services

• Governance services

The Trust charges for these seNices at 6% of GAG Income with the exception of Unity charged at 7% to cover additional SLT support 
(2020- 5% of GAG income for all acade!'nles except Unity charged at 7%). The actual amounts charged during the year were: 

2021 2020 
£000 £000 

i)fxons City Academy 278 258 
Dixons Allerton Academy 582 481 
Dixons Trinity Academy 195 157 
Dixons McMillan Academy 204 182 
Dixons Kings Academy 280 226 
Dixons Music Primary 102 83 
Dixons Marchbank Primary 116 105 
Dixons Tr:nity Chape!town Academy 192 113 
Dixons Manningham Primary 102 88 

Dixons Cottingley Academy 284 212 
::>ixons Sixth Form Academy 252 93 
Dixons Ur.ity Academy 372 335 
Total 2,959 2,333 

A s:.immarised Income and Expenditure Account for the year ended 31 August 2021 in  respect of the above is as follows: 

Income 

Recharge to academies 
Pre-opening grant 
Emergency support grant 
Otr.er DfE grant 

Trust development gran! and appea !s 
Other income 

Total 

Staff costs 
Consultancy 

HR and legal services 
Audit and accountancy 
IT licensing and software 
Recruitmer.t and advertising 
Admisslons 
Capital purchase 
Other 

Total 

39 

2021 2020 
£000 £000 

2,959 2,333 
640 

168 
325 276 
47 65 

205 49 

4,344 2,723 

£000 £000 

3,527 2,784 
33 26 
49 14 
81 5 

154 29 
38 29 
43 56 
45 

163 137 

4,233 3,080 
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Dixons Academies Trust 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2021 

12 Other financial income 

Investment income on pension scheme assets 
Interest on pension scheme liabilities 
Total 

13 Intangible fixed assets 

Cost 
At 1 September 2020 
Additions 
At 31 August 2021 

Amortisation 
At 1 September 2020 
Charged in year 
At 31 August 2021 

Carrying amount 
At 31 August 2020 

At 31 August 2021 

14 Tangible fixed assets 

Cost 
At 1 September 2020 
Additions 
Disposals 
At 31 August 2021 

Depreciation 
At 1 September 2020 
Charged in year 
Disposals 
At 31 August 2021 

Net book values 
At 31 August 2020 
At 31 August 2021 

Freehold land 
and buildings 

£000 

36,256 
109 

36,365 

8,723 
722 

9,445 

27,533 
26,920 

Leasehold 
land and 
buildings 

£000 

89,488 
203 

89,691 

9,462 
1,794 

11,256 

80,026 
78,435 

Plant and 
machinery 

£000 

2,288 

2,288 

1,931 
157 

2,088 

357 
200 

2021 

£000 

441 
(807) 
(366) 

Computer 
software 

£000 
2021 

542 
21 

563 

464 
40 

504 

78 

59 

Motor vehicles 

£000 

48 
18 

66 

32 
8 

40 

16 

26 

2020 
£000 
488 

(735) 
(247) 

Fixtures and 
fittings 

£000 

7,559 
617 

8,176 

4,515 
460 

4,975 

3,044 
3,201 

The Trust's Freehold Properties are subject to charges held by the Secretary of State for Education. Leasehold Properties are held on 
a 125-year lease from the Local Authority and/or Department for Education. 
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Dixons Academies Trust 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2021 

14 Tangible fixed assets (cont'd) 

Cost 

At 1 September 2020 

Additions 

Disposals 

At 31 August 2021 

Depreciation 

At 1 September 2020 

Charged in year 

Disposals 

At 31 August 2021 

Net book values 

At 31 August 2020 

At 31 August 2.021 

15 Stock 

Finished goods and goods for resale 

Computer equipment 

8,926 

1,315 

(66) 

10,175 

7,262 

853 

(56) 

8,049 

1,664 

2,126 

2021 

£000 

51 

51 

The stock of goods consists of books, stationery, teaching consumables etc. purchased In 2020/21 far use in 2021/22. 

16 Debtors 

Trade debtors 

VAT recoverable 

Other debtors 

Prepayments and accr:ied income 

17 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 

Trade creditors 

Other taxation and social security 

Other creditors 

Accrua,s and deferred income 

18 Deferred income 

Deferred income at 1 September 2020 

Released from previous years 

Resources deferred in the year 

:Jeferred Income at 31 August 2021 

2021 

£000 
91 

333 

14 

2,118 

2,556 

2021 
£000 

892 

884 

1,058 

1,885 

4,719 

2021 

£000 

1,002 

(1,002) 

480 

480 

Total 

144,565 

2,262 

(66) 

146,761 

31,925 

3,994 

(56) 

35,853 

112,640 

110,908 

2020 
£000 

70 

70 

2020 
:EOOO 

30 

446 

113 

1,870 

2,459 

2020 

£000 

520 

713 

1,008 

2,967 

5,208 

2020 

£000 

420 

(420) 

1,002 

1,002 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Vear Ended 31 August 2021 

18 Deferred income (Continued) 

2021 2020 

£000 £000 

Rates 175 165 

UIFSM 172 177 

Post 16 bursary 77 71 

GAG clawback 39 254 

Comic relief 1 

Charity Fund 9 

Emergency funding 8 

Time to teach 7 

Exclusion - SEN 21 

Ambition School Leadership 3 

RS courses 3 

TIN courses 2 

IT grant 298 
-------------- --... -

480 1,002 

Deferred income held at 31 August 2021 relates to 2021/22 Rates, Universal Infant Free School Meals, P16 bursary etc. as shown above. 

19 Statement of funds 

Restricted general funds 

General Annual Grant (GAG) 

Sta rt-up grant 

UIFSM 

Pupil Premium 

Catch-up premium 

Other DfE/ESFA COVID-19 funding 

Other COVID-19 funding 

Other grants 

Pension reserve 

Restricted fixed asset funds 

Transfer of building/FFE 

Transfer on conversion 

DfE/ESFA capital grants 

Transfers in on joining Trust 

Private sector capital sponsorship 

Capital expenditure from GAG 

Total restricted funds 

Total unrestricted funds 

Total funds 

42 

Balance at 1 
September 

2020 
£000 

3,048 

580 

(22,114) 

(18,486) 

39,585 

46,642 

25,413 

1,118 

134 

112,892 

94,406 

187 

94,593 

Income 
£000 

48,164 

370 

298 

2,811 

628 

490 

165 

5,810 

(627) 

58,109 

2,120 

2,120 

60,229 

1,375 

61,604 

Expenditure 
£000 

(46,568) 

(370) 

(298) 

(2,811) 

(264) 

(413) 

(131) 

(5,862) 

(3,310) 

(60,027) 

(873) 

(3,191) 

(118) 

(33) 

(4,215) 

(64,242) 

(667) 

(64,909) 

Gains and 
(losses) 

£000 

1,826 

1,826 

1,826 

1,826 

Transfers 
£000 

(349) 

(349) 

349 

349 

Balance at 
31 August 

2021 
£000 

4,295 

364 

77 

34 

528 

(24,225) 

(18,927) 

38,712 

46,642 

24,342 

1,000 

134 

316 

111,146 

·---·-------------

92,219 

895 

93,114 
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19 Statement of funds (continued) 

The specific purposes for which the funds are to be applied are as fol,ows: 

Restricted funds 

Restricted fu:ids represent the cu:nulative unsper.t Genera! Anr.ua! Grant, other government grants/income and sponsorship income 
carr:ed forward fror.-: previous years fn respect offunding rece:ved for the specific purpose of the Trust's running costs excluding fixed 
asset. Under the fo::ding agreerr:ent wi".:n the Sec�etary of State, the academies are not sub;ect to a limit on the amount of GAG that 
can be carried forward as at 31 August 2021. 

Unrestricted fund 

Unrestricted fonds represent sur;:;uses generated from other trading activities and are to be used to support future genera I educational 
purposes eithe� of a revenue or capital nature at the discretion of the Board/Trustees. 

Restricted fixed asset fund 

This fund represents the cumulative "let book value carried forward in respect o� the Trust's tangible and intantble fixed assets plus 
ar.y capital funding received from centra:/iocal government and other donors which has not been expended by the ba:ance sheet date. 
The ca;:iitaI fonding may be used to compiete capital projects or undertake maintenance works or. existingtangib!e fixed assets. The
ft.:nd balance also includes the carrying value of fixed assets of an academy ;o!ning the Trust from another Trust and all other assets 

donated to the Trust. 

Pension reserve 

This fund includes the pe:,sior. reserve which identifies the pensior. deficit of academies joining the Trust from ar.other Trust and 
through which the pension scheme movements are recognised. Where a pension valuation report is received and a surplus or a deficit 
on the defined be:-iefit pension scheme is reported, the movement is recog:,ised where an asset or liability occurred. The reserve 
above ls negative because it constitutes a liability. During the year a total of 31 catering staff was transferred from Bradford Council to 
our Trust as we moved the catering in-house. Out of those 31 staff, 23 are in the pension and the valuation as at 31 August 2021 
includes the inherited pension liabilities. 

Comparative information in respect of the preceding period 

Restricted general funds 

General Annual Grant (GAG} 

Sta rt-up grant 

Pupil Premium 

Other grants 

Pension reserve 

Restricted fixed asset funds 

Transfer of buUd:ng/FFE 

Transfer on conversion 

DfE/ESFA capital grants 

Transfers in on join ing Trust 

Private sector capital sponsorship 

Total restricted funds 

Total unrestricted funds 

Total funds 

Balance at 1 

September 

2019 

£000 

3,206 

308 
(13,531) 
(10,017) 

46,642 
26,424 
1,118 

134 

74,318 

64,301 

100 

64,401 

Income 

£000 

43,855 
529 

2,711 
5,098 

52,193 

39,998 

2,104 

42,102 

94,295 

1,251 

95,546 

Balance at 

Gains and 31 August 
Expenditure losses Transfers 2020 

£000 £000 £000 £000 

(44,013) 3,048 

(529) 
{2,711) 
(4,826) 580 

(2,536) (6,047) (22,114) 

(54,615) (6,047) (18,486) 

(413) 39,585 

46,642 

(3,115) 25,413 

1,118 

134 

(3,528) 112,892 

(58,143) (6,047) 94,406 

(1,164) 187 

(59,307} (6,047} 94,593 
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Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2021 

19 Statement of funds (continued) 

Total Trust Reserves Balances 

Centrally held reserves - restricted and unrestricted funds (MAT) 

Restricted fixed asset fund 

Pension reserve 

Total 

2021 2020 

£000 £000 

6,193 3,815 

111,146 112,892 

(24,22_� (22,114) 

93,114 94,593 

The Trustees approved that all reserves held by the Trust would be centralised. This decision has been taken so that all academies 

within the Trust are supported. Consequently, the Trustees have decided to pool all reserves. Accordingly, no surpluses or deficits are 
attributed to particular academies, but all are held centrally. The Trustees are committed to ensuring that the balance of reserves 
(£6.193m as at 31 August 2021) will be used effectively for the benefit of each child who is educated within a Dixons academy. 

Analysis of academies by cost 

Teaching and Other Educational Other costs Total Total 

educational support staff supplies excluding 2021 2020 

support staff costs depreciation 

costs 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Dixons City Academy 3,526 649 138 648 4,961 5,519 

Dixons Kings Academy 3,560 737 266 821 5,384 5,204 

Dixons Allerton Academy 7,518 1,132 695 1,140 10,485 10,329 

Dixons Music Primary 1,296 191 77 370 1,934 1,926 

Dixons Marchbank Primary 1,661 230 116 343 2,350 2,306 

Dixons Trinity Academy 2,507 690 212 207 3,616 3,481 

Dixons McMillan Academy 2,688 514 131 434 3,767 3,947 

Dixons Manningham 1,479 208 60 297 2,044 2,061 

Dixons Trinity Chapeltown 2,605 381 220 516 3,722 2,740 

Dixons Cottingley 3,015 550 403 753 4,721 4,302 

Dixons Unity Academy 3,686 354 325 1,723 6,088 5,937 

Dixons Sixth Form Academy 2,302 692 379 438 3,811 2,151 

Dixons Central Services 1,171 2,4S6 88 3,784 4,189 5,615 

Teaching Institute 244 49 18 1 312 261 

37,258 8,833 3,128 11,475 60,694 55,779 

20 Analysis of net assets between funds 

Fund balances at 31 August 2021 are represented by: 

Restricted Restricted 2021 2020 

Unrestricted General Fixed Asset Total Funds Total Funds 

Funds Funds Funds £000 £000 

£000 £000 £000 

Intangible fixed assets S9 59 78 

Tangible fixed assets 110,908 110,908 112,640 

Current assets 895 10,017 179 11,091 9,197 

Current liabilities (4,719) (4,719) (5,208) 

Non-current liabilities 

Pension scheme liability (24,225) (24,225) (22,114) 

Total net assets 895 (18,927) 111,146 93,114 94,593 

21 Capital commitments 

2021 2020 

£000 £000 

Contracted for, but not provided in the financial statements 163 
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22 Long-term commitments, including operating leases 

Operating Lease 

At 31 August 2021, the total of the Trust's future minimum !ease payme!'lts under non-canceilabie operating leases was: 

Amounts due within one year 

Amounts due between one and five years 

Amounts due after five years 

Other contractual commitments 

2021 

£000 
466 

1,384 

1,628 

3,478 

At 31 August 2021, the total of the Trust's futu�e minimum payments under other contractual commitments was: 

Amounts due within one year 

Amounts due between one and five yea:-s 

Amounts due after five years 

23 Reconciliation of net income/(expenditure) 

Net income/(expenditure) for the reporting period (as per the statement of financial 
activities) 
Adjusted for: 

Amortisation [note 13] 
• Deprec!at:on [note 14]
• Capital grants from DfE and other capital income
• Transfer in of building/FFE
- (Profit)/Loss on disposal of fixed asset
• Interest rece:vab\e [note 6]
• Defined benefit pension scheme obligat:on inherited
• Defined benefit pension scheme cost less contributions payable (no�e 30,31)
- Defined benefit pension scheme finance cost [note 30,31]
• (lncrease)/decrease in stocks
- (lncrease)/decrease in debtors
• lncrease/(decrease) in cred:tors

Net cash provided by/ (used in) operating activities 

24 Cash flows from investing activities 

Dividends, interest and rents from investments 
Proceeds from sale of tangible fixed assets 
Purchase of i:itangib!e fixed assets 
Purchase of tangible fixed assets 
Capital grants from DfE and other capita( income 

Net cash provided by/(used In] Investing activities 

2021 

£000 

1,084 

4,643 

14,682 

20,409 

2021 

£000 

(3,305) 

40 

3,994 

(2,120) 

(13} 

(5) 
627 

2,944 

366 

19 

(97) 
(489) 

1,960 

2021 
£000 

6 

13 

(21J 
(2,262) 

2,120 

(144) 

2020 
£000 
431 

1,323 

1,923 

3,677 

2020 
£000 
1,031 

4,164 

10,622 

15,817 

2020 

£000 

36,239 

90 
3,438 

(2,104) 

(39,998) 

(18) 

2,289 
247 

15 

(757) 
1,518 

959 

2020 
£000 

18 

(2) 
(2,517) 

2,104 

(397) 
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25 Analysis of cash and cash equivalents 

Cash in hand and at bank 

Deposit account (12 months) 

Total cash and cash equivalents 

26 Members liability 

At31August 

2021 

£000 

6,977 

1,507 

8,484 

At 31 August 

2020 

£000 

5,169 

1,499 

6,668 

Each Member of the Charitable Company undertakes to contribute to the assets of the Charitable Company in the event of it being 
wound up while he/she is a Member, or within one year after he/she ceases to be a Member, such amount as may be required, not 
exceeding £10 for the debts and liabilities contracted before he/she ceases to be a Member. 

27 Pension and similar obligations 

The Trust's employees belong to two principal pension schemes: The Teachers' Pension Scheme England and Wales (TPS) for academic 
and related staff, and the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) for non-teaching staff which is managed by West Yorkshire Pension 
Fund. Both are multi-employer defined benefit schemes. 

The latest actuarial valuation of the TPS related to the period ended 31 March 2016 and of the LGPS to the period ended 31 March 
2019. 

Contributions amounting to £769,594 were payable to the schemes at 31 August 2021 (2020: £716,675) and are included within 
creditors. 

28 Teachers' Pension Scheme 

Introduction 

The Teachers' Pension Scheme (TPS) is a statutory, contributory, defined benefit scheme, governed by the Teachers' Pensions 
Regulations 2014. Membership is automatic for teachers. All teachers have the option to opt-out of the TPS following enrolment. 

The TPS is an unfunded scheme to which both the member and the employer makes contributions, as a percentage of salary -these 
contributions are credited to the Exchequer. Retirement and other pension benefits are paid by public funds provided by Parliament. 

Valuation of the Teachers' Pension Scheme 

The Government Actuary, using normal actuarial principles, conducts a formal actuarial review of the TPS in accordance with the Public 
Service Pensions (Valuations and Employer Cost Cap) Directions 2014 published by HM Treasury every 4 years. The aim of the review 
is to specify the level of future contributions. Actuarial scheme valuations are dependent on assumptions about the value of future 
costs, design of benefits and many other factors. The latest actuarial valuation of the TPS was carried out as at 31 March 2016. The 
valuation report was published by the Department for Education on 5 March 2019. The key elements of the valuation and subsequent 

consultation are: 

• employer contribution rates set at 23.68% of pensionable pay (including a 0.08% administration levy)

• total scheme liabilities (pensions currently in payment and the estimated cost offuture benefits) for service to the effective date of
£218,100 million, and notional assets (estimated future contributions together with the notional investments held at the valuation

date) of £196,100 million giving a notional past service deficit of £22,000 million

• the SCAPE rate, set by HMT, is used to determine the notional investment return. The current SCAPE rate is 2.4% above the rate of
CPI

• assumed real rate of return is 2.4% in excess of prices and 2% in excess of earnings. The rate of real earnings growth is assumed to
be 2.2%. The assumed nominal rate of return including earning growth is 4.45%

The next valuation result is due to be implemented from 1 April 2023. 

The employer's pension costs paid to TPS in the period amounted to £5.227 million (2020: £4.927 million). 

A copy of the valuation report and supporting documentation is on the Teachers' Pensions website. 

Under the definitions set out in FRS 102, the TPS is an unfunded multi-employer pension scheme. The Trust has accounted for its 
contributions to the scheme as if it were a defined contribution scheme. The Trust has set out above the information available on the 

scheme. 
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29 Local Government Pension Scheme 

The LGPS is a funded defined ber.efit pension scheme with the asse�s he,d in separate Trustee-adr.ilnistered tunds. The total 
contribution made for the year ended 31 August 2021 was f1,774K (2020: £1,549k} of which employer's contributions totalled f1,257K 
(2020: f1,089k) and employees' contributions total�ec: f5'.:.7K (2020: f460k). The agreed contribution rates for future years are 
between 23.68% for employers and between 5.5% and 12.5% for e:r.ployees. 

Parliament has agreed, at the request of the Secretary of State fo� Education, to a guarar:tee that, ::, the event of an academy trust 
c!osure, outstanding Loca: Governmer.t Pension Scheme iiabilities wou!c: be met by the :Jepartment 7or !:ducat!::::,. The guarantee 
came into fo�ce on 18 July 2013. 

Principal actuarial assumptions 

Rate of increase in salaries 

Rate of increase for pensions in payment/inflation 

Discount rate for scheme liabilities 

inflation assumption (CPI) 

Pension accounts revaluation rate 

At 31 August 2021 

3.85% 

2.60% 

1.70% 

2.60% 

2.60% 

At 31 August 2020 

3.55% 

2.30% 

1.70% 

2.30% 

2.30% 

The cur�e:it mortality assumptions ir.dude sufficient allowance for fu'::ure improvements in mortality rates. Tt:e assumeci life 
expectations on retirement age 65 are: 

Retiring today 

Males 

Females 

Retiring in 20 years 

IV:a!es 

Females 

Sensitivity analysis 

Discount rate +0.1% 

Discour.t rate -0.1% 

Mor.ality assumption -1 year increase 

Mortality assumption -1 year decrease 

CPI ra'.:e +0.1% 

CPi rate -0.1% 

The Trust's share of the assets in the scheme 

Equity instr,.nr.ents 

Bonds 

Property 

Cash and other 

Total market value of assets 

The actual return on scheme assets was £5,407,000 (2020: £770,000) 

At 31 August 2021 

21.9 

24.7 

22.6 

25.8 

At 31 August 2021 

£000 

(1,415) 
1,415 

2,150 

(2,150) 

1,245 

(1,245) 

Fair value at 31 August 2021 

£000 

25,958 

4,013 

1,230 

1,165 

32,366 

At 31 August 2020 

21.8 

24.6 

22.5 

25.7 

At 31 August 2020 

£000 

(1,185) 

1,185 

1,754 

(1,706) 

1,043 

(1,043} 

Fair value at 31 AugL:st 2020 
£000 

19,669 

3,716 

1,087 

809 

25,281 
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29 Local Government Pension Scheme (Continued) 

Amount recognised in the statement of financial activities 

Current service cost (net of employee contributions) 

Net interest cost 

Past service cost 

Total operating charge 

Changes In the present value of defined benefit obligations 

At 1 September 

Upon conversion 

Current service cost 

Past service cost 

Interest cost 

Employee contributions 

Actuarial (gain)/loss 

Benefits paid 

Net increase in assets from disposals/acquisitions 

At31 August 

Changes in the fair value of the Trust's share of scheme assets 

At 1 September 

Upon conversion 

Interest income 

Return on plan assets (excluding net interest on the net defined 
pension liability) 
Actuarial gain/(loss) 

Employer contributions 

Employee contributions 

Benefits paid 

Net increase in assets from disposals/acquisitions 

At31August 

30 Related party transactions 

2021 
£000 

(4,201) 

(366) 

(4,567) 

2021 
£000 

47,395 

4,201 

807 

517 

3,140 

(635) 

1,166 

S6,591 

2021 
£000 

2S,281 

441 

4,966 

1,257 

517 

(635) 
S39 

32,366 

2020 
£000 

(3,377) 

(247) 

(1) 

(3,625) 

2020 
£000 

38,866 

3,377 
l 

735 

460 

4,789 

(833) 

47,395 

2020 
£000 

25,335 

488 

(1,258) 
1,089 

460 

(833) 

25,281 

Owing to the nature of the Trust and the composition ot the board of Trustees oelng drawn from local public and private sector 
organisations, transactions may take place with organisations in which the Trust have an interest. All transactions involving such 
organisations are conducted in accordance with the requirements of the AFH, including notifying the ESFA of all transactions made on 
or after 1 April 2019 and obtaining their approval where required, and with the Trust's financial regulations and normal procurement 
procedures relating to connected and related party transactions. 

No related party transactions took place in the period of account. 

31 Agency arrangements 

The Trust distributes 16-19 bursary funds to students as an agent for the ESFA. In the accounting period ending 31 August 2021, the 
Trust received £201K (2020: £145K) and disbursed £156 (2020: £144K) from the fund. Each academy may retain up to 5% of the fund 
income to cover associated administration costs. Any unspent monies are retained for future years spending to a maximum of 2 years. 
The value of unspent funds as at 31 August 2021 and included in other creditors was £120k (2020 £75k). 
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Dixons Academies Trust 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2021 

31 Agency arrangements (continued) 

2021 2020 

£000 £000 

Fund brought forward 75 74 

Bursary funding received 201 145 

Total income 276 219 

Funds distributed 156 144 

5% admin cost retention 

Total costs 156 144 

Funds carried forward 120 75 

Distribution of DfE laptops 

During the year the Trust received laptops and other devices to support c:isadvantaged chi:dren to access remote learr.ing. A tota! of 
1,852 devices and 37 routers were received. The Trus'; distributed some of the la;,tops to disadvantaged students as an agent for the 
ESFA ar.d retarned some to sup;:iort the current cohorts of students. In the accounting period er.ding 31 August 2021, the Trust 
permanentiy distributed 787 laptops to st:.idents. 

32 Teaching school trading account 

2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 2019/20 2019/20 2019/20 

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Income 

Direct Income 

Grant income 166 239 

Other income 173 39 

Total income 339 278 

Expenditure 
Direct costs 

Direct staff costs 245 224 

Total direct costs 245 224 

Other costs 

Suppa rt staff costs 49 

Printing, photocopying and stationery 1 2 

Professional services 19 32 

Travel and subsistence ! 

Other suppor:: costs 13 2 

Total other costs 82 37 

Total expenditure 327 261 

Surplus/(deficit] from all sources 12 17 

Teaching school balances at 1 September 2020 5 (12) 

Teaching school balances at 31 August 2021 17 5 
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Dixons Academies Trust 

Notes to the Financial Statements for the Year Ended 31 August 2021 

33 Post balance sheet events 

On 1 September 2021, Dixons Fazakerley Academy was transferred to the Trust. At the date of transfer in, the operations assets and 
liabilities were transferred to the Trust at nil consideration. Transferor retained the deficit of the academy and the only liability to be 

inherited is the defined benefit pension scheme liability. At the time of finalising the accounts, the pension liability was not available. 

The fixed assets a re financed under PFI contract, and any transactions will be treated as other contractua I commitments to be reported 

under long-term commitments, including operating leases. Dixons Broadgreen Academy will be transferred to the Trust on the 1 
December 2021. 
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